
Cetelem

Annual Report







8

Cetelem Annual Report 2014

CETELEM ČR, a.s.

Karla Engliše 5/3208

150 00  Praha 5

Company number: 250 85 689

VAT number: CZ 250 85 689

Incorporation: Municipal Court in Prague, 

Section B, File 4331

T: +420 257 080 111

F: +420 257 080 128

E: cetelem@cetelem.cz

W: www.cetelem.cz

Company Identifi cation



18 Years 

In 2014, Cetelem celebrated 18th anniversary 

of its inception in the Czech Republic. 



Ladies and Gentlemen, 

The year 2014 confi rmed the recovery of the Czech 

economy, primarily through GDP and domestic 

consumption growth, a lower unemployment rate, 

and fi nancial market liquidity. 

In terms of consumer fi nance, the Czech market 

shows a higher level of maturity through increa-

sing deposits and stabilised credit outstandings, 

which are also signs of improved fi nancial com-

petence of households, which are now focusing 

more on the quality of products and services and 

requiring personalised off ers.

Recently, signifi cant changes have been signalled for 

the future of the banking market, as two banks have 

announced that their retail banking activities are 

for sale. Our perspective is that some other banking 

players still need to deleverage due to their slower 

adjustment to the just concluded fi nancial crisis. 

The Czech market currently includes 60 banks and 

fi nancial institutions and most probably will be fur-

ther reorganised and consolidated in the future.

Cetelem Czech Republic achieved its main goals 

in 2014. Its sustainable leading position in the 

market of non-banking consumer credit pro-

viders was confi rmed by the fact that our mar-

ket share expanded to 34 percent amongst the 

members of Česká fi nanční a leasingová asociace 

(Czech Finance and Lease Association). The 

increase in new credit volumes and revenues, and 

the leading position, demonstrate that our diver-

sifi ed and well-balanced business model is robust.

Our strategy, which includes prudent risk man-

agement, resulted in a further reduction in the 

share of non-performing loans in our portfolio 

and in business growth in the targeted segments.

I would also underline the creation of signifi cant 

value through the digitisation and simplifi cation 

of our processes, which we achieved thanks to our 

employees’ abilities. We are continuously impro-

ving our operating performance and effi  ciencies 

of investment in new technology, both in order to 

achieve sustainable management of our costs. 

A number of innovations emerged in 2014. We 

launched a new reward program for using Cete-

lem Credit Cards, increased rewards for repaying 

Personal Loans as due, extending them to cover 

all debt consolidation loans, launched contactless 

stickers and pre-approved Express Credit, facili-

tated repayment through QR codes, and launched 

new websites. All these innovations are evidence 

of our customer-centric approach. 

In creating new products and services, and ad-

justing existing ones, we listen to the wishes and 

needs of our clients. This approach is refl ected 

in the success of our products in competitions 

in which winners are voted for by the public. For 

example, the Cetelem Credit Card was the top 

rated credit product on the Czech banking and 

non-banking market in the Zlatá koruna 2014 

(Golden Crown) competition.

In 2015, our main strategies and eff orts will focus on 

diversifying our partnerships. We want to be closer 

to our clients and respond exactly to their fi nancial 

needs at the right moment. We are also promoting 

our positions in B2C activities via a new media cam-

paign policy and growing in digital channels.

This year, we will start to operate under the ban-

king licence of our parent company, BNP Paribas 

Personal Finance, and become a branch of it. We 

are also going to invest more in the Czech market 

for the long term. All of these are additional signals 

for our clients and partners of our reliability and 

transparency and of the strategic support provided 

by our BNP Paribas group to global value creation.

Finally, let me extend our thanks to all our clients, 

partners, employees, investors and shareholders 

for their confi dence, which I greatly appreciate and 

also interpret as a commitment for the future.  

Emmanuel Bourg

Vice-Chairman, Board of Directors

CETELEM ČR, a.s.

Foreword
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Cetelem pursues a long-term strategy of deli-

vering high-quality products and services and 

forging strong bonds with its customers, partners 

and employees. The building blocks of custo-

mer satisfaction are a personal and responsible 

approach combined with the development and 

innovation of a product portfolio that is in sync 

with market requirements and the opportuni-

ties off ered by technological advances. Custo-

mer satisfaction is of the greatest importance to 

Cetelem because it is essential for the company’s 

sound, steady growth. 

One of the company’s organic, intrinsic attributes 

is its transparent and responsible approach to 

lending that goes beyond adherence to laws and 

ethical norms and relies on the communication 

of information suffi  cient, plain and comprehen-

sible enough for customers to take level-headed 

decisions. This responsible approach includes the 

principle of refusing customers if there is a risk 

that they will become so indebted that they are 

unable to honour their commitments. In additi-

on, Cetelem fully respects the principles of the 

professional associations and interest groups of 

which it is a member.

CETELEM ČR, a.s. (“Cetelem”), a robust, sta-

ble company prominent on the Czech fi nancial 

market, last year celebrated 18 successful years of 

operation on the Czech consumer credit market. It 

consolidated its position as a top non-bank credit 

product and service provider once again in 2014. 

Since its foundation in October 1996 and the 

launch of its business in June the year after, 

Cetelem has evolved into an innovator and 

pioneer in many areas, especially the internet. 

Responsible lending has always been at the heart 

of the company’s principles. Cetelem’s licence to 

operate as a payment institution, issued by the 

Czech National Bank, underscores the compa-

ny’s compliance with strict regulatory demands 

akin to the requirements imposed on banks and 

proves the company’s credibility and stability on 

the Czech fi nancial market. The company off ers 

a keenly competitive product portfolio built on 

a responsible and tailored customer approach. 

The company’s products and services can be 

requested in person at any of its branches, over 

the telephone, or online. In addition to conventi-

onal consumer credit provided at points of sale of 

goods and services, Cetelem also off ers personal 

loans, credit cards, products intended for motor 

vehicle fi nancing, mortgage loans and various 

types of insurance. 

Cetelem is a wholly-owned subsidiary of BNP 

Paribas Personal Finance. BNP Paribas Personal 

Finance is present in 28 countries over fi ve con-

tinents and is part of the international fi nancial 

group BNP Paribas, one of the world’s highest-

-profi le banks.

Long-Term Strategy 1 Company Profi le
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Conventional consumer credit

Conventional consumer credit is a quick and 

easy way of fi nancing instalment sales of goods 

and services directly at the point of sale. Cetelem 

works with a broad network of bricks-and-mortar 

and online shops throughout the Czech Republic. 

We were the fi rst market player to roll out the 

biometric signing of contracts at the stores of our 

trade partners. This is an innovative method 

where credit agreements with customers are 

signed using a SignPad device and are then kept 

exclusively in computerised archives. We are stea-

dily expanding this dematerialised credit process 

to other stores and trade partners. The end result 

will see classic paper agreements supplanted by 

records on advanced durable data carriers. We 

were the fi rst to start off ering pre-approved Ex-

press Credit for instalment sales, enabling custo-

mers to apply for credit on the Cetelem website or 

the websites of selected trade partners from the 

comfort of their own homes.

→  Bricks-and-mortar and online shops

→  The fi nancing of merchandise from CZK 2,500 

to CZK 200,000

→  A choice of multiple credit products

→  The amount of the down payment, the credit 

repayment period and the monthly instalments 

can be set by the customer

→  Quick and easy in-store credit processing

→  Instant ownership of the merchandise purchased

→  A broad network of trade partners throughout 

the Czech Republic

Credit cards

A credit card, or revolving credit, is a fl exible in-

strument for drawing on funds up to an approved 

limit, covering everything from everyday shopping 

to any unexpected expense. The Virtual Card, one 

of the most secure online payment instruments on 

the Czech market, is designed for e-shopping. It is 

issued free of charge as an accessory to the Cetelem 

Credit Card. Customers can also apply for contact-

less payment stickers, with up to fi ve available per 

card. Weekly limits starting at as little as CZK 50 

can be set for each sticker. Rewards for card use 

under the Build-a-Card scheme give customers the 

chance to claim back up to CZK 9,600 per year. The 

Customer Zone – also adapted for mobile phone 

use – is a platform where customers can keep track 

of all card movements at virtually any hour of the 

day, look up their electronic account statements and 

transfer funds from their card to their bank account. 

→  55-day interest-free period 

→  Card issue and activation free of charge

→  Additional Virtual Card for secure online payments

→  Free issue, activation and use of up to fi ve con-

tactless payment stickers

→  Customers can take their pick of four rewards 

for card use:

 →  4% of all purchases at any fuel fi ling 

station in the Czech Republic or ab-

road; up to CZK 800 per month

 →  3% of all online purchases; up to 

CZK 600 per month

 →  2% of all purchases in the Czech Repub-

lic or abroad; up to CZK 400 per month

 →  all withdrawals of at least CZK 1,000 

from ATMs in the Czech Republic 

or abroad free of charge 

→  Non-stop credit account access

Personal loans

Cetelem off ers personal loans in the form of both 

specifi c-purpose and any-purpose consumer loa-

ns. They are intended to fi nance customers’ cost-

lier needs and also to consolidate their existing 

conventional and revolving credit or overdraft fa-

cilities. In January 2014, we unveiled rewards for 

due repayment, giving customers the opportunity 

to recover up to 10 monthly instalments. These 

rewards also apply to consolidation schemes. 

→  Easy arrangements online, over the telephone, 

or at a branch

→  Special-purpose and any-purpose loan products

→  Consolidation of existing borrowings 

→  Financing of housing and refurbishment

→  Free credit account maintenance

→  Loan amounts ranging from 

CZK 20,000 to CZK 1,000,000

→  Reward for due repayment equalling up to ten 

instalments

AutoCredit/MotoCredit

AutoCredit/MotoCredit targeted consumers and 

businesses/companies looking to fi nance the pur-

chase of new or used vehicles directly in a partner 

network of new and used car dealers across the 

Czech Republic. Starting this year, Cetelem is cha-

nnelling all vehicle fi nancing through its Personal 

Car Loans.

Insurance

Working with its partner insurance companies, 

Cetelem off ers customers a broad range of ins-

urance products. In addition to policies covering 

the risks associated with credit products, such 

as payment protection insurance, customers can 

also take out a number of individual and supple-

mentary policies. 

→  Payment protection insurance

→  Insurance of stolen Cetelem-fi nanced item and 

Home Assistance insurance

→  Insurance covering credit card abuse and docu-

ment loss or theft

→  Personal accident insurance

→  Insurance of your card and personal eff ects

→  Insurance of outgoings

→  ProCetelem Cesty Wüstenrot travel insurance

→  Cetelem Credit Card travel insurance

→  ProCetelem Auto Wüstenrot third-party 

(MTPL) and all-risk insurance 

Mortgage loans

In partnership with the Wüstenrot fi nancial group 

Cetelem off ers ProCetelem Wüstenrot mortgage 

loans for the fi nancing of new properties or the 

refi nancing of customers’ current housing-related 

borrowings. Features of this product include the 

option to set the interest rate up to nine months 

in advance. 

→  Buying a new property 

→  Refi nancing

→  Free mortgage loan processing

→  Free loan account maintenance

→  No need to have a current account with Wüste-

nrot hypoteční banka

→  Acceptance of property valuations for refi nan-

cing; new valuations arranged free of charge if 

needed

→  Interest rate can be agreed nine months in 

advance

Product Range
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Corporate social responsibility is natural and 

integral to our corporate philosophy and business. 

As a major fi nancial institution, Cetelem therefore 

fully acknowledges its commitments to customers, 

trade partners, employees and other players on the 

fi nancial market, and, ultimately, its commitments 

to society at large. 

Cetelem supports a number of cultural, sporting and 

philanthropic projects. The company channels its 

philanthropic eff orts into programmes and projects 

intended primarily for the support of children and 

young people. This is the eighth year that the compa-

ny has been helping commercially sexually exploi-

ted children and young people, through the Šance 

[“Chance”] project, to rediscover the values of life 

and get through diffi  cult times. Another important 

area of Cetelem’s philanthropic activities is assistan-

ce for physically and mentally disabled children, 

specifi cally through fi nancial support for the Zajíček 

na koni [“Hare on a Horse”] civic association, the 

LILA home for disabled children in Otnice and the 

Luna foundation for the disabled. In addition, Cete-

lem provides fi nance to the Veselý vozíček [“Merry 

Wheelchair”] civic association, in particular for the 

rehabilitation of a disabled boy who is re-engaging in 

active life and becoming an active athlete despite his 

physical handicap. Cetelem has also been involved 

long term in helping to improve the medical conditi-

on of a little girl suff ering from a very serious genetic 

degenerative disease. The company’s assistance for 

children includes help in the fi nancing of medical 

devices for those whose parents do not have much 

money to buy the equipment they need. Last year, for 

example, it contributed to the purchase of a hearing 

aid and feeding tube. Cetelem also helps shelters to 

procure the medical devices they need. In addition, 

it provides fi nancial support to Zdravotní klaun 

[“Clown Doctor”], a scheme geared towards comfor-

ting hospitalised children throughout the country. 

The company also provides long-term support to 

children’s homes; in addition to everyday operations, 

it helps to fi nance children’s leisure activities. Speci-

fi cally, it gives a helping hand to the Ledce Childre-

n’s Home, the Domeček Children’s Centre and the 

Senožaty Children’s Home. Through Dětská doprav-

ní nadace [Children’s Traffi  c Foundation], Cetelem 

contributes to the education and living standards of 

children whose parents have died in traffi  c accidents. 

Last year, Cetelem also started funnelling fi nancial 

support into the Psí domov dog shelter, which takes 

care of dozens of abandoned and mistreated ani-

mals and helps to fi nd them new, loving owners. 

In addition, the company’s employees play an 

active role in assisting the needy under the Pečeme 

s Cetelem [“Baking with Cetelem”] project, which 

has been helping to fi nance small-scale charity 

projects for a long time. Those who do the baking 

get to choose who will benefi t from their colleagu-

es’ donations. Cetelem always doubles the amount 

collected from employees. Besides targeting 

individuals, last year this project also encompassed 

assistance for Na Bulovce Hospital as it sought to 

purchase equipment for child patients in its infecti-

ous diseases department. 

Cetelem meets its responsibility to its employees 

through a number of benefi ts, including training 

and development support. The company also devo-

tes considerable attention to care for their health 

and to creating an agreeable and sound working en-

vironment for them, while placing an emphasis on 

their high professionalism and professional ethics.

One way Cetelem meets its responsibility to 

customers, trade partners and society at large is 

through its membership of professional associati-

ons and special-interest groups, by means of which 

it proactively helps to shape the environment for 

the provision of fi nancial services. Cetelem pursu-

es a responsible approach to its customers’ needs, 

and it has therefore long observed the responsible 

lending rules that are among the basic principles 

of its parent company, BNP Paribas Personal 

Finance. In lending, Cetelem places a stress on 

customer awareness of the fi nancial services it 

off ers, as well as on the constant monitoring of the 

quality of its credit portfolio; when a client’s ability 

to repay a loan is at risk, it strives to fi nd a mutu-

al solution that works best for the customer. For 

Cetelem, corporate social responsibility means 

long-term investment in a sustainable future.

Cetelem is a subsidiary of BNP Paribas Personal 

Finance, a French bank that has been off ering 

fi nancial services since 1953 (under the Cetelem 

brand prior to 2008). BNP Paribas Personal Fi-

nance maintains a presence in 28 countries on fi ve 

continents and employs more than 20,000 people.

BNP Paribas Personal Finance is a part of BNP 

Paribas Group, one of the world’s strongest banks. 

The group operates in 75 countries and employs 

185,000 people, of whom 141,500 are in Europe. 

Cooperation between BNP Paribas Group’s sub-

sidiaries is based on sharing know-how not only 

in the development and implementation of new 

products, but also in the streamlining of internal 

processes and risk management and in the opti-

misation of work with the customer portfolio. The 

group’s main edge is that affi  liates can off er a wide 

range of competitive products able to satisfy cus-

tomers’ fi nancial needs, be it in the form of loan 

products or conventional retail banking services. 

BNP Paribas Personal Finance plays its irrepla-

ceable role of consultant, adviser and professio-

nal guarantor both directly and via the Central 

and Eastern Europe Region, placing Cetelem in 

a position to fully pursue its main objective of 

providing a diversifi ed range of fi nancial products 

and continuously developing this range to refl ect 

the changing needs and capabilities of the largest 

possible number of consumers. 

BNP Paribas Personal Finance

Algeria, Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Bulgaria, 

Czech Republic, China, Denmark, France, Italy, 

South Africa, Luxembourg, Hungary, Morocco, 

Mexico, Germany, Norway, Poland, Portugal, 

Romania, Russia, Slovakia, United Kingdom, 

Serbia, Spain, Tunisia, Turkey, Ukraine.

Corporate Social Responsibility

BNP Paribas Group
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1997     0.054

1998     0.606

1999     2.058

2000     2.728

2001     3.933

2002     4.826

2003     4.731

2004     5.870

2005     7.404

2006     8.932

2007     11.350

2008     12.160

2009     8.666

2010     9.190

2011     9.738

2012     10.365

2013     11.152

2014     12.046

1996
Incorporation 

1997
First consumer credit provided at a trade part-

ner’s store

1998
Launch of the AURA credit card on the Czech 

market

1999
Cetelem is one of the founders of Solus, the fi rst 

non-bank register of client information

2000
Launch of Cetelem Personal Loans

2002
Cetelem joins MasterCard International (the fi rst 

non-bank institution on the market to do so)

2003
Launch of AURA MasterCard Electronic credit 

cards

2004
Launch of the AutoCredit/MotoCredit motor 

vehicle fi nancing products

2005
Launch of Cetelem ON-LINE Loan sales

2006
Launch of the AURA PLUS credit card, off ering 

a broader range of features 

2007
Extension of cooperation with fi nancial interme-

diaries

2008
Launch of the Cetelem Combi Loan for loan con-

solidation

2009
Launch of credit cards with integrated chips

2010
Cetelem joins the Non-bank Register of Client 

Information

2011
Licensed by the Czech National Bank to operate 

as a payment institution

2012
Launch of vehicle fi nancing for businesses and 

companies

2013
Launch of dematerialisation in instalment sales, 

i.e. a fully digitised credit application process 

2014
Launch of MasterCard PayPass contactless payment 

stickers for Cetelem Credit Cards

Lending (CZK billions)

Milestones

Over its long-standing presence in the Czech con-

sumer credit market, Cetelem has built a reputa-

tion as a serious, stable and responsible company 

off ering high-quality products, both in expert 

circles and among the general public. 

Last year, the company again boosted its leading 

position among the non-bank consumer credit 

providers that are members of the Czech Lease 

and Finance Association (ČLFA). Within this 

association, its market share grew from 32 to 34 

per cent (source: ČLFA, consumer credit catego-

ry). In 2014, the volume of new loans amounted to 

CZK 12 billion, up by 8% over 2013, when Cetelem 

granted CZK 11.15 billion worth of credit. 

Position on the Czech Market 
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Zlatý Středník [Golden Semi-colon] 2013:
Cetelem’s Annual Report for 2012 comes top in 

the category of Annual Reports, Corporate Profi -

les and Catalogues

Zlatá koruna [Golden Crown] 2014:
Bronze crown for AutoCredit/MotoCredit in the 

Prize Awarded by Businesses category

Czech Top 100 
– a chart of the most important companies 

in the Czech Republic

First place in the Consumer Credit category 

Czech Top 100  
– a chart of the best annual reports in the Czech 

Republic Bisnode Prize for Information 

Openness Eighth place overall 

 CZK 2,144 billion 

in equity

CZK 18,940 billion 

in outstandings

1,410 billion 

in pre-tax profi t

12,046 billion 

in new lending in 2014

415 employees 

(average FTE)

Cetelem’s sole shareholder is BNP Paribas 

Personal Finance S.A. 

Awards Won in 2014 

Key Ratios for 2014
(As at 31 December 2014)

Shareholder Structure 
(As at 31 December 2014)

January
→  Launch of a new reward scheme for using 

the Cetelem Credit Card, giving customers the 

opportunity to save up to CZK 9,600 per year

→  The Cetelem Personal Loan refunds up to 10 

instalments as a new reward for due repayment 

 March
→  Launch of the company’s new website  

April
→  Repayments made easier with QR codes

→  The Annual Report for 2012 comes top in the cate-

gory of Annual Reports, Corporate Profi les 

and Catalogues in the Zlatý středník [Golden Se-

mi-colon] 2014 competition

May
→  Emmanuel Bourg is appointed as the new vice-

-chairman of the board responsible for company 

management

→  Results of the Cetelem Barometer 2014 

international study presented 

 June
→  The Company comes fi rst in the Consumer Credit 

category of the prestigious Czech Top 100 charts

→  Cetelem’s AutoCredit/MotoCredit is third in the 

Prize Awarded by Businesses category in the Zlatá 

koruna [Golden Crown] competition in 2014

August
→  Launch of MasterCard PayPass contactless 

payment stickers for Cetelem Credit Cards

→  Rewards for due repayment are extended 

to all consolidation products

September
→  The maturity date for loans is unifi ed

October
→  Cetelem celebrates 18 years since its esta-

blishment in the Czech Republic

→  Automatic calculator added to the company’s 

website

November
→  Cetelem starts off ering pre-approved Express 

Credit on its website

→  Cetelem’s Annual Report for 2013 wins the Czech 

Top 100 Bisnode Prize for Information Openness

December
→  Cetelem is placed alongside banks in The Naviga-

tor of Responsible Lending 2014 study

Highlights of 2014
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As at 31 December 2014, CETELEM ČR, a.s. was 

managed by a fi ve-member Board of Directors.

The Supervisory Board and Audit Committee had 

three members. 

Board of Directors
→  Charles McArthur

Chairman 

→  Emmanuel Bourg

Vice-Chairman

→  Milan Bušek

Vice-Chairman

→  Eric Turbot

Member

→  Miguel Pereira 

Member

Supervisory Board
→  Alain Van Groenendael

Chairman 

→  Georgi Dimitrov Georgiev

Member

→  Václav Horák

Member since 23 May 2014

Audit Committee
→  Georgi Dimitrov Georgiev

Chairman

→  Květoslava Vyleťalová 

Vice-Chairwoman 

→  Nesrin Gonin 

Member since 11 April 2014

Executive Management
→   Emmanuel Bourg

Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors

→  Christophe Bourdeaux

General Secretary

→  Milan Bušek

Head, Operations and Processes Direction

→  Miguel Pereira

Head, Risk Direction

→  Jan Borák

Head, Compliance Department

→  Jana Kolaříková

Head, Human Resources and Internal 

Communications Department

→  David Kopřiva

Head, Information Technologies Direction

→  Petra Slunečková

Head, Legal Services Department

→  Blažena Valkošáková

Head, Finance Direction

→  Tomáš Siegler

Head, Marketing and Communication Direction

→  Petr Skok

Head, Commercial Direction

Commercial Direction
→  Milan Cáder

Head, Direct Sales Direction

→  Jan Kloud

Head, Vehicle Financing Direction

→  Jan Lidmila

Head, Department of Business Development 

and Strategic Partner Relations 

→  Petr Bláha

Head, Network Distribution Direction

No events that could materially aff ect the com-

pany’s business results or further development 

were noted from the date of preparation of the 

fi nancial statements to the date of issuance of the 

Annual Report. The company actively responds 

to economic trends in a bid to maintain a stable 

market position and the corresponding fi nancial 

results despite the complex economic situation. 

Company Bodies and Management  Subsequent Events 
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Corporate Social Responsibility 

Throughout its history, Cetelem has supported a number of projects 

especially related to children and young people as well as culture. 



The drama theatres of Rokoko and ABC hold performances for visitors 

of all ages and contribute to the promotion  of culture.

Municipal Theatres of Prague



Rokoko Theatre



Rokoko Theatre



CharitaRokoko Theatre



Rokoko Theatre
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Rokoko Theatre



ABC Theatre



The shelter helps abandoned dogs to regain trust in people. 

All dogs receive proper veterinary care. 

Dog Shelter
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Dog Shelter



People who ended up being homeless can turn to workshops 

that help them to acquire work habits. 

Šance Project



“People who live on the street can acquire work, social and life habits 

in the therapeutic workshop. Our motto summarizes the initiative: 

Feeding a person in need is easy; teaching them how to earn enough 

to buy their food is diffi  cult.”

László Sümegh, 

coordinator at Project Šance, o.s. 

Šance Project
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Šance Project



Over eighty clowns help to cheer up children in more 

than sixty hospitals. They also spread good mood in several 

homes for the elderly.

Medical Clown
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Medical Clown



Various sports activities and music and other courses are frequent 

extracurricular activities of children. The children’s home help children 

to get education and to get better start to their lives.

Children’s Home Ledce
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Our employees are engaged in helping people in need. 

Those who bake goods for breakfast choose themselves 

how to use the money collected from their colleagues. 

Cetelem always matches the proceeds.

Baking with Cetelem



Baking with Cetelem
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Customer satisfaction: our priority

Customer satisfaction is a key indicator of the 

success of the Company’s chosen strategy and 

everyday operations. Cetelem pursues a long-

-term strategy of delivering high-quality, simple, 

comprehensive, competitive and universally 

aff ordable fi nancial services in all our customer 

relations while respecting the prudential fra-

mework in place to protect the interests of the 

Company, shareholders, investors and, above all, 

customers. The priority is to devise a product and 

service range fully meeting individual customer 

needs and actively responding to shifts in the 

credit landscape. 

Complete fi nancial services and sales 
innovation

Cetelem has long strived to off er – by capitalising 

on all available sales channels – a full range of 

credit services tuned into customer expectations, 

ranging from point-of-sale credit to borrowing fa-

cilities arranged in direct contact with customers. 

To achieve this aim, the Company systematically 

channels its energy into building a network of 

trade partners and developing direct state-of-

-the-art sales channels designed to sell fi nancial 

products that fully refl ect the evolving needs of 

trade partners and customers. 

A trustworthy and responsible fi nancial 
service provider

CETELEM ČR a.s. is a fi nancial partner for indivi-

duals seeking to fi nance either everyday needs or 

long-term projects. 

The Company’s trustworthiness, stability and respec-

tability are corroborated by the following factors:

→  Cetelem has long been the leading non-ban-

king fi nancial service provider in the Czech 

Republic by volume of lending; 

→  Cetelem, as a member of the BNP Paribas 

Group, can rely on a solid cross-border ne-

twork of connections;

→  Cetelem maintains a keenly competitive port-

folio of simple, aff ordable fi nancial products. 

Cetelem fully recognises the commitments 

incumbent on it as a major fi nancial institution 

on the Czech market and as a member of the BNP 

Paribas international fi nancial group espousing 

corporate social responsibility, especially: 

→  economic responsibility – by adhering to re-

sponsible lending principles; 

→  employer responsibility – by signing up to 

a shared commitment to nurture opportuni-

ties for talent development while respecting 

diversity and age;

→  social responsibility – by encouraging charity 

work in the workplace;

→  environmental responsibility – by backing 

the fi nancing of environmentally-friendly and 

energy-saving projects and by recycling.

The Company’s trustworthiness is built on 

respect for laws, the rules of the BNP Paribas 

Group, and the professional standards and codes 

of conduct of the organisations of which it is 

a member. An open, transparent approach to cus-

tomers, trade partners, employees and investors 

is essential.

Emphasis on long-term relationships with 
customers, trade partners, investors and 
employees

As a specialist in personal credit services, Cete-

lem is keen to be the long-term company of choi-

ce for customers when selecting the right partner 

to manage their personal fi nances. The Com-

pany’s strategy relies on the building of lasting, 

mutually benefi cial relationships with customers, 

trade partners, investors and employees, based on 

reciprocated trust and partnership.  

II Corporate Strategy2 CETELEM ČR, a.s. Board of Directors Report 
on Results in 2014 and the Outlook 
for the Coming Period

I Company Vision and Mission
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most appropriate solution available, which most 

often takes the form of revised repayment terms and 

conditions. The Company systematically monitors, 

evaluates and manages the above and other risks in 

a bid to maintain sustainable development, stability 

and long-term profi t.

Responsible human resource management 

Cetelem is committed to creating conditions for 

employees who will enable it to implement the 

group strategy and position itself as an internati-

onal corporation respecting fundamental human 

values and needs. It has also made the permanent 

pledge to conduct itself ethically in accordance 

with the Company’s code of contact, to contribute 

to the economic growth of the parent company, 

BNP Paribas Personal Finance, and to enhance the 

quality of life enjoyed by the local community and 

society at large. Another area meriting systema-

tic attention is the quality of employees’ working 

conditions, occupational hygiene, support for their 

medical care and improvements in their technical 

knowledge and skills. 

Cetelem has established a system of diverse emplo-

yee benefi ts respecting the varied interests of staff  

and, as such, indirectly helps to maintain a balance 

between employees’ working and personal lives.

As part of its policy to foster diversity, Cetelem 

holds transparent selection procedures, entailing 

adherence to the principle of equal opportunities 

and the provision of feedback and information on 

the results to all candidates involved. 

Professional and special-interest associations

Through its membership of and active involvement 

in professional and special-interest associations, 

Cetelem contributes intently to the formation of an 

environment conducive to the provision of fi nancial 

services by non-bank entities. In 1999, Cetelem was 

a founding member of the SOLUS special-interest 

association of legal entities; it is an active member of 

the Czech Lease and Finance Association (ČLFA), 

the Bank Card Association (SBK) and the Association 

for Electronic Commerce (APEK). In 2002, Cetelem 

became the fi rst non-bank institution on the Czech 

market to join MasterCard International. In 2011, Ce-

telem became a user of the NRKI register operated by 

the CNCB – the Czech Non-banking Credit Bureau, 

a special-interest association of legal entities.

Cetelem also strives to be a respected partner of 

consumer organisations in attempts to establish 

a level footing between fi nancial service providers 

and customers. 

As a member of the Czech Lease and Finance Asso-

ciation, Cetelem follows the Financial Market Code 

of Ethics, which lays down standards of conduct 

in the provision of fi nancial services to customers. 

The objectives of the Code include, in particular, the 

promotion and enhancement of the standard of fair 

relations in the fi nancial market, support for the de-

velopment of fi nancial market services, steps to help 

customers to understand fi nancial services, greater 

protection of customers as consumers, and the boos-

ting of overall confi dence in the fi nancial market.

Community activities

Social responsibility towards the community in 

which Cetelem does business is integral to its 

operations. Community activities have long cent-

red on charity work focusing on programmes and 

projects intended primarily to assist socially disa-

dvantaged children and young people. Since 2008, 

the company has partnered the Chances Project, 

a preventative and humanitarian relief program-

me for commercially sexually abused children and 

Cetelem realises that its status as a major fi nancial 

institution on the Czech market and as a member 

of the BNP Paribas international fi nancial group 

means that it is duty-bound to engage – and is 

naturally bent on participating – in corporate social 

responsibility in the Czech Republic. Responsible 

behaviour makes the Company a more credible 

prospect among customers, trade partners, emplo-

yees, government agencies and the general public. 

The CSR strategy is fully incorporated into nume-

rous areas of corporate strategy.

Responsibility to customers, trade partners, 
investors and the environment

Cetelem maintains a responsible approach to the 

needs and resources of its customers. Marketing 

surveys, studies and cooperation with trade part-

ners are all factors contributing to the development 

of a sales off ering aligned with customers’ require-

ments and expectations. We also keep a watchful 

eye on how satisfi ed customers are with services 

rendered in the course of their contract with the 

Company. Since 2004, Cetelem has been involved 

in the Cetelem Barometer, an annual international 

study comparing consumers’ expectations, conduct 

and mindsets, along with developments reported 

by various markets in selected European countries. 

These studies arm Cetelem with the knowledge of 

customer requirements and resources, in tandem 

with predicted trends, that it needs to keep its pro-

duct range updated, hone its processes, and enhan-

ce service provision quality. 

Solid customer satisfaction is essential for the 

Company’s commercial and fi nancial success and 

for sustainable development, enabling Cetelem to 

be a trustworthy and stalwart ally of trade partners 

in the fi nancing of their customers’ purchases. The 

way the Company is perceived by investors and 

other stakeholders also plays a central role.

In its environmental values, Cetelem – in both em-

ployee and key service supplier relations – demands 

acceptance of and compliance with the commit-

ment to respect the rules of environmental protec-

tion, safety and health at work, and the ethical stan-

dards of the BNP Paribas Group. With this in mind, 

it makes use of modern technology to minimise the 

consumption of natural resources, especially by im-

plementing projects geared towards the digitisation 

and automation of internal processes.

Economic responsibility, risk management 
and responsible lending

Cetelem maintains a responsible approach to 

corporate governance and risk management. The 

processes and control system are confi gured to 

comply with statutory requirements, regulatory 

measures, and professional and ethical standards. 

The company adheres to a responsible lending 

policy, which is among the fundamental principles 

applied by the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group. 

When off ering and arranging loans, Cetelem pla-

ces an emphasis on providing quality information 

to customers about the fi nancial services on off er, 

and on a rigorous and prudent assessment of their 

needs and ability to honour their future obligations, 

with a view to preventing customers from becoming 

excessively burdened with debt. The Company 

constantly monitors the quality of its credit portfo-

lio and, where the customer is at risk of defaulting 

and the situation permits, it strives to identify the 

III Corporate Social Responsibility
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young people. Financial assistance has also been 

channelled into the civic associations Zdravotní 

klaun [“Medical Clown”], Veselý vozíček ["Merry 

Wheelchair"] and Dětská dopravní nadace [Chil-

dren’s Transport Foundation]. Other benefi ciaries 

of several years’ standing include Ledce Children’s 

Home, Senožaty Children’s Home, the Domeček 

Children’s Centre in Ostrava, the LILA Home for 

Disabled Children in Otnice, and Zajíček na koni  

["Hare on a Horse"] civic association. 

Once again, in 2014 Cetelem supported an employ-

ee initiative, matching personal donations in supp-

ort of selected individuals or organisations helping 

people facing hardship. 

In 2014, Cetelem contributed CZK 1,517,000 

to these projects.

Since 2010, the Company has been the main spon-

sor of Městská divadla pražská [Prague Municipal 

Theatres], which stages productions in two theat-

res in Prague: the ABC and Rokoko.

Macroeconomic environment

Macroeconomic fi gures provided hard evidence that 

by 2014 the Czech economy had overcome two years 

of recession. GDP grew by 2% year on year. House-

hold fi nal consumption expenditure fell by an aggre-

gate of 1.2% between 2011 and 2013, but rose by 1.7% 

– the highest growth in the past six years – as the 

Czech economy picked up again in 2014. Demand 

for consumer fi nancing, boosted by the economic 

recovery, also benefi ted from the fall in the unem-

ployment rate during the year. By the end of 2014, 

the general unemployment rate was 6.1% Average 

infl ation in 2013 was 0.4%, down by 1% on 2013.

Continuously low interest rates and the level of 

the exchange rate, guided by the Czech National 

Bank’s currency intervention, had a positive im-

pact on the Czech economy. However, the rock-

-bottom interest rates were not directly refl ected 

in consumer lending.

With the public wary of taking on more debt and 

fi nancial institutions erring on the side of caution 

when assessing customer creditworthiness, the 

overall volume of consumer fi nancing shrank.

Non-bank consumer credit market  

As the economic recovery – especially in GDP and 

household consumption – took hold towards the 

end of 2013 and continued apace in 2014, consumer 

fi nancing became a more attractive proposition for 

the public. The volume of new consumer fi nancing 

production reported by non-banks (ČLFA – Czech 

Lease and Finance Association – members) grew by 

1.5% year on year to CZK 34.9 billion. 

However, the overall volume of consumer lending 

outstanding to individuals by ČLFA members 

tumbled by 3.5% over the same period, constraint 

by the ongoing trend of consolidating past consu-

mer borrowing and by the caution evident among 

customers, and came in at CZK 57.1 billion at the 

end of 2014.

IV Business Environment
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AutoCredit/MotoCredit

AutoCredit/MotoCredit (Autoúvěr/Motoúvěr) tar-

geted consumers and businesses/companies looking 

to fi nance the purchase of new or used vehicles 

directly in a partner network of new and used car 

dealers across the Czech Republic. Starting in 2015, 

Cetelem will channel all vehicle fi nancing through 

its Personal Car Loans (Osobní půjčka na auto).

Insurance

Insurance products off ered to Cetelem’s customers 

in cooperation with BNP Paribas Cardif pojišťovna, 

a.s. primarily cover credit product risks, in parti-

cular the risk of non payment due to disability for 

unemployment. Damage or loss resulting from 

stolen credit cards, with or without the customer’s 

personal documents, may also be insured. Bill 

Protection (Pojištění výdajů) is designed to cover 

customers’ regular outgoings in case of any unfore-

seen events. Cetelem works with Wüstenrot to off er 

travel insurance. Cetelem also provides personal 

injury insurance, covering income reductions due 

to hospitalisation, permanent disability or accident-

-related death. Customers can also arrange motor 

damage and MTPL insurance through Cetelem.

Mortgage loans

In partnership with the Wüstenrot fi nancial 

group Cetelem off ers ProCetelem Wüstenrot 

mortgage loans for the fi nancing of new proper-

ties or the refi nancing of customers’ current 

housing-related borrowings. 

Distribution channels

The broad aff ordability of fi nancial services for 

consumers is a key Company priority. Point-of-sale 

fi nancial services are available at more than 4,500 

trade partners (merchants selling consumer goods 

and services and car dealerships). Financial services 

are also provided at commercial venues accepting 

the Cetelem MasterCard credit card, via a network 

of ATMs, and over the internet. 

Revolving MasterCard credit provides customers 

with a high level of credit fi nancing fl exibility and 

convenience. Since 2005, the company has issued 

international MasterCard credit cards, spreading the 

availability of Cetelem’s fi nancial services beyond the 

Czech Republic. These cards are accepted as a means 

of payment in a network of more than 87,000 retail 

outlets in the Czech Republic and can be used to wi-

thdraw cash from more than 4,480 ATMs or to make 

payments at over 4,900 online shops. 

Electronic services have become a common means 

of purchasing merchandise and services. In additi-

on to instalment plans for product purchases, the 

internet can also be used to arrange credit services 

directly, to draw funds on approved credit facili-

ties and to obtain information on loans that have 

already been provided. The Client Zone, accessible 

over the internet, off ers customers ease of commu-

nication with the Company, self-service arrange-

ments for revolving credit fi nancing, information 

about promotional events, and the opportunity 

to receive electronic credit account statements. 

Cetelem strives to develop its Client Zone services 

continuously in order to off er greater convenience 

to customers as they seek to resolve their needs and 

requirements. The annual increase in the Client 

Zone’s unique visitors by 38% in 2014 shows that 

this is the right way forward. 

Cetelem Personal Loans, which are designed to 

fi nance costlier purchases and projects, are a part 

of the Company’s product portfolio. Since 2005, the 

internet has been an important sales channel for 

personal loans; it makes it possible for customers 

to obtain complete information on the fi nancial 

services on off er and to apply for a loan online. 

Cetelem is a leading provider of personal credit 

and ancillary fi nancial services for the fi nancing 

of personal consumption needs and projects. One 

of Cetelem’s main goals is to off er and systema-

tically develop a portfolio of simple, aff ordable 

fi nancial products and sales channels in order 

to respond to ever-evolving customer needs and 

market changes as best it can. 

Conventional consumer credit

Conventional consumer credit is the basic product 

intended to fi nance purchases of merchandise and 

services directly at the point of sale. The defi ning 

feature of this product is that it can be used to spread 

the payment for merchandise over an extended 

period of time in the form of instalments. Cetelem’s 

customers tend to use this product to fi nance purcha-

ses of consumer electronics, household appliances, 

household furnishings, information and communica-

tion technology, and home improvement products in 

a network of retail partners across the Czech Repub-

lic. Online shopping has continued to grow in popu-

larity, as refl ected in the year-on-year 10% upswing in 

fi nancing at online retailers.  

Credit cards

Credit cards are the simplest and fastest means of 

payment and can be used to draw on funds up to 

an approved credit limit. All credit cards are valid 

internationally. Numerous benefi ts available to 

customers making non-cash purchases include 

a 55-day grace period and a 4% cashback reward 

programme. In 2014, Cetelem launched contactless 

payment stickers for its credit cards.

Online transactions account for a major area of 

credit card use. This upward trend is borne out 

by the 51% year-on-year increase in the volume 

of card transactions carried out via a Virtual Card 

(Virtuální karta). In the secure part of e-shop 

websites, customers can pay with a Virtual Card, 

one of the safest online payment instruments in 

the Czech market. It can also be used to transfer 

funds from a card to a bank account. The Client 

Zone also off ers non-stop monitoring of all credit 

card movements and monthly electronic-only card 

statements.

Personal loans

Cetelem’s personal loans have been devised to 

facilitate more expensive purchases and projects, 

and also to consolidate conventional and revolving 

loans in the form of special-purpose or any-purpo-

se consumer credit. 

In 2014, interest in consolidation remained high 

as this is an avenue allowing customers to lighten 

the burden that repaying several loans at once can 

have on the family budget, and at the same time it 

slims down loan-associated paperwork. Much like 

the other products described above, the Cetelem 

Personal Loan (Osobní půjčka Cetelem) is reporting 

a solid upward trajectory on the internet, where on-

line lending has expanded by 15%. Last year, timely 

repayment incentives were expanded to all conso-

lidation, with the number of repayments forgiven 

increasing from fi ve to ten.

V Product Range
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Legal landscape

The business arena is increasingly aff ected by chan-

ges in laws and their application by relevant natio-

nal authorities. An important role is also played by 

raising consumer awareness and competence.

In order to minimise regulatory risk, 

the Company has set up a mechanism to monitor 

changes in legislation and case law and to evalua-

te their impact on its business. The Company, as 

a member of professional associations participating 

in the legislative process, is also actively involved 

in the monitoring and evaluation of the impacts of 

amendments proposed to current legislation and 

proposals for new legislation relevant to the Com-

pany’s operations, including follow-up negotiations 

with supervisory and oversight bodies.

As a payment institution, it is incumbent on the 

Company to comply consistently with criteria 

in place for the quality of the confi guration and 

functioning of its internal management and control 

system, demands placed on process control, risk 

management, the existence of technical, perso-

nnel and organisational capacities relevant to the 

prudent provision of payment services, and capital 

requirements. Particular attention has been paid to 

the quality of service provision and to the expansion 

of features off ered by payment instruments (credit 

cards) as and when they are innovated in order to 

match customers’ expectations and requirements.

The Company’s core business necessitates parti-

cular respect for consumer lending legislation and 

other consumer protection rules contained in the 

Civil Code and special standards. 

For a lender, it is important to be cautious when eva-

luating the creditworthiness of loan applicants. This 

factor is, and will increasingly be, infl uenced signifi -

cantly by changes in legislation, developments in ju-

dicial practice, the cementing of mindsets and trends 

in the interpretative opinions of central government 

authorities. The points at issue here include condi-

tions for the use of client information registers and 

access to certain data, relevant to creditworthiness 

assessments, available in basic registers.

The Company is also aff ected by other current topics 

discussed directly with a view to striking a balance be-

tween the protection of consumer interests and the le-

gitimate interests of the Company as a creditor. These 

encompass, for example, conditions of legal judicial or 

extrajudicial recovery, including alternative dispute 

resolution, enforcement conditions, or issues related to 

limitations on or the structure of product pricing. New 

credit fi nancing legislation in the pipeline indicates 

that we will have to expand the range of information 

provided to clients and revise processes associated 

with the assessment and management of individual 

business transactions. Besides legislative changes, the 

ultimate stance taken by administrative bodies and 

courts is a vital factor for the Company in this area.

System of corporate governance  

Rights and obligations of the Company’s sharehol-

ders are governed by Act No 89/2012, the Civil Code, 

Act No 90/2012 on companies and cooperatives (the 

Business Corporations Act), and the Company’s 

Articles of Association. The Company’s Articles of 

Association are published in the collection of docu-

ments attached to the Commercial Register. In line 

with the Business Corporations Act, the Company 

has opted for a dualistic system of management and 

has complied fully with that law.

The Company’s governing body, responsible for 

its business management, is the Board of Direc-

tors. All members of the Board of Directors have 

the personal and professional skills required to 

act as a member of the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors takes decisions on all Com-

pany matters not reserved for the competence of the 

General Meeting or the Supervisory Board by law, the 

Pursuing strategic objectives

Cetelem’s long-standing priority is to be a steadfast, 

enduring fi nancial partner to its customers, provi-

ding high-quality comprehensive and competitive 

fi nancial services that are simple, aff ordable and 

meet clients’ individual needs. Relying on the strong 

backing provided by the BNP Paribas international 

group and on its own resources – capital, material, 

technical, fi nancial and human – the Company’s goal 

is to maintain its prominent position on the Czech 

consumer credit market and to achieve fi nancial re-

sults underpinning that status. Proof that Cetelem is 

pursuing the right strategy can be found in its tradi-

tional inclusion among the leading non-bank credit 

service providers. In 2014, Cetelem defended its 

top-place ranking in the market of non-bank consu-

mer lenders and increased its market share to 34%. 

One of the Company’s enduring key priorities has 

been to enhance the quality of credit risk manage-

ment by applying responsible lending principles. In 

2014, the Company continued to focus on optimi-

sing the rules in place and on drawing on all available 

lending-related information with a view to achieving 

the strategic objective of a sustainable development 

policy with an acceptable level of credit risk. 

Continuous monitoring of the quality of the loan 

portfolio, with an emphasis on assessments of loan 

approval and management processes, including the 

provision of consulting services to address custo-

mers’ complicated circumstances that may arise, was 

a fundamental credit risk management practice. The 

Company recorded no out-of-the-ordinary credit 

risk trends at odds with the consumer lending mar-

ket and the growth of the Company’s loan portfolio.

Although the market as a whole registered a ge-

neral dip in consumer lending, with caution the 

watchword among customers wary of taking on 

debt, the Company enjoyed year-on-year growth 

in new lending and in overall credit granted within 

the scope of these operations.

In 2014, the Company continued to pay attention to 

the quality of all service provision by monitoring the 

standard thereof with a series of indicators featu-

ring customer satisfaction high on the agenda. Our 

fi xation on the quality, comprehensiveness and com-

petitiveness of fi nancial services was the key driver 

behind innovations to speed up the credit applicati-

on assessment procedure by drawing on available in-

formation, to enhance the level of service enjoyed by 

existing customers, to improve debt servicing, and to 

expand the digitisation of the various processes.

Since 2011, CETELEM ČR, a.s. has held a Czech 

National Bank licence to operate as a payment 

institution under Act No 284/2009 on payment 

systems, as amended. This licence is necessary to 

issue and manage payment instruments (credit 

cards) and engage in related activities. 

In 2014, one of Cetelem’s priorities remained the 

streamlining of operating costs by pursuing the 

optimisation, automation and simplifi cation of 

processes and by reviewing the procurement of 

supplier services in line with the BNP Paribas 

Group’s Simple & Effi  cient Project, geared towards 

simplifying processes and enhancing effi  ciency. 

Cetelem does not have any branch-led operations 

abroad and does not engage in any special environ-

ment-related activities.

VI Company Governance and Business 
Management



124 125

signifi cant potential for reductions in operating costs. 

To optimise the corporate structure and harness IT 

synergy, technical cooperation was also intensifi ed 

with the Slovak affi  liate CETELEM SLOVENSKO, a.s.

In 2014, there was a stress on implementing instru-

ments that would optimise the range off ered to custo-

mers and make strides in customer communication, as 

well as on designing a new Company web presentation 

with a particular focus on improving features in the 

customer self-service zone. Payments stickers were 

introduced in the realm of credit cards. Product range 

technical support was extended to the self-employed, 

and exemplary customers with a long history of timely 

compliance with their obligations were rewarded with 

the reimbursement of interest they had paid. 

Although the Company does not engage in indepen-

dent research and development, it does make syste-

matic eff orts to innovate its services and processes. 

Human resource management

High-quality human resources which, through indivi-

dual and team commitment, are aimed at meeting the 

Company’s ambitious objectives, especially customer 

satisfaction, and at developing business and sustai-

nable fi nancial results, are essential to the successful 

evolvement of the Company. In its human resource 

management, the Company’s strategy is to create an 

effi  cient working environment which is amenable to 

dialogue with employees and supports their initiatives, 

career growth, performance and professional ethics. 

Mutual responsibility between employees and 

the Company in order to strike a balance between 

challenging performance requirements and the 

fostering of conditions to achieve them is central to 

human resource management.

Company commitments to employees:

→  clear information; 

→  individual attention; 

→  opportunity for professional growth;

→  the creation of conditions facilitating quick 

decision-making.

Reciprocal commitments of employees:

→  full involvement in the performance 

of the duties required of their position;

→  proper care of all clients; 

→  teamwork;

→  initiative. 

To meet their mutual obligations, the company and 

the group use various forms of communication with 

employees – mainly (but not limited to) personal 

meetings. The system of periodic employee apprai-

sals, where personal, team, strategic and personality 

targets are set and evaluated for each employee, is 

a major device in this respect.

The Company’s remuneration policy is based on 

the alignment of employees’ personal targets with 

the performance and development of the Company 

and the personal development of the employee. The 

Company’s aim is to establish a system of remune-

ration designed to promote employee motivation in 

a way that prevents the prioritisation of short-term 

goals over the Company’s long-term development. 

To meet the goal of being a competitive employer, in 

addition to its incentive-based remuneration system 

the Company has set up a system of employee benefi ts 

as a means to stabilise the existing workforce, motiva-

te employees and provide a backdrop supporting their 

readiness to fulfi l ambitious goals, and recruit talen-

ted employees to vacancies while strengthening and 

maintaining the Company’s competitiveness in the 

labour market. In 2013, a Social Fund was created as 

a means of progressing further towards this objective.

In 2014, the Company again systematically centred 

on employee training and professional development.   

The average full time employees in 2014 was 415. The 

average employee age was 34 years, and the propor-

tion of women to men is 55% to 45% respectively. 

Average Company service makes of six years.

Articles of Association, or a decision of the General Me-

eting. The Board of Directors ensures compliance with 

regulatory obligations incumbent on the Company as 

a payment institution, as set forth in the Payment Sys-

tems Act. The Board of Directors is responsible for the 

approval and regular evaluation of the business strate-

gy, organisational structure, risk management strategy, 

the capital and capital adequacy strategy, the infor-

mation system development strategy, internal control 

system policies and security principles, including 

information system principles. Its remit includes the 

approval of new products, activities and systems of ma-

jor signifi cance to the Company, and the system of risk 

control limits to be used by the Company. The Board 

of Directors may decide to delegate these powers to 

designated committees, and is entitled to revoke the 

delegation of such powers at any time. The Board of 

Directors is kept informed of the matters discussed by 

committee meetings and the decisions taken.

To support the Board of Directors’ activities, and to 

safeguard the internal management and accounta-

bility of the Board of Directors, committees are esta-

blished as expert focus groups to discuss important 

issues related to the Company’s key objectives and 

fi elds of operation. These committees are advisory 

bodies of the Board of Directors established by the 

Board of Directors, at its own discretion, to initi-

ate and submit recommendations to the Board of 

Directors on specialist issues. All committees report 

on their activities to the Board of Directors at least 

once a year. The activities of each committee are ca-

rried out in accordance with the Rules of Procedure 

of Committees and Commissions, which are appro-

ved by the Company’s Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors periodically reports to the Su-

pervisory Board on its activities, on Company aff airs, 

and on the Company’s fi nancial, business and accoun-

ting situation. The policy of holding joint meetings 

with the Board of Directors ensures that the Super-

visory Board is kept abreast of matters. The Board of 

Directors submits to the Annual General Meeting, for 

approval, the annual fi nancial statements, the propo-

sed profi t distribution or loss coverage, and the annual 

report, which includes a report on the Company’s 

business activities and assets. The Board of Directors 

also submits to the General Meeting, for approval, ex-

traordinary or interim fi nancial statements and other 

documents required by law.

In 2010, the supreme Company body, in response to 

a plan to issue debt securities tradable on a regulated 

market, appointed, in accordance with applicable 

legislation, an Audit Committee competent to monitor 

the procedure applied in the preparation of fi nancial 

statements, in particular by examining the consistency 

and appropriateness of the accounting methods used 

at the company; to evaluate the eff ectiveness of the 

Company’s internal control, internal audit and, where 

appropriate, risk management systems, to monitor 

the statutory audit of accounts, to assess the indepen-

dence of the auditor and audit fi rm and the provision 

of additional services to the Company, to recommend 

an auditor, to receive and, with the auditor, to discuss 

information, declarations and communications in 

accordance with the law, and to provide other Com-

pany bodies, where appropriate, with information on 

matters in the Audit Committee’s remit. The Audit Co-

mmittee also carries out other statutory activities. The 

powers and activities of the Audit Committee do not 

aff ect the remit and responsibility of other Company 

bodies under laws and the Articles of Association.

Information technology

The development of information and communicati-

on technologies has long been considered an under-

lying requirement for the Company’s successful for-

ward march. In 2014, the Company concentrated on 

technical support for existing services and on optimi-

sing and overhauling internal processes, primarily in 

a bid to enhance the effi  ciency of available resources 

and to focus on those corporate processes off ering 
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12 %8 %

32 %

48 %

0 %

33 %

3 %

64 %

16 %

52 %

14 %

19 %

12 % Less 25 Y

48 % Between 25–35 Y

32 % Between 35–45 Y

8 % Over 45 Y

0 % Basic level

64 % Secondary level

3 % Higher education college

33 % University level

16 % Less 1 Y

19 % Between 1–3 Y

14 % Between 3–5 Y

52 % More than 5 Y

Average Number of Employees

Employeeš  Age Structure As at 31/12/2014 Structure of Employeeš  Education As at 31/12/2014

Employment with the Company As at 31/12/2014

2000

115

2001

144

2002

173

2003

223

2004

269

2005

283

2006

323

2007

363

2008

434

2009

437

2010

439

2011

453

2012

439

2013

418

2014

415

Employment relations are governed by the applicable legislation of the Czech Republic. 

The Company has no collective agreement in place.
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Credit risk management  

In 2014, credit risk management costs were at a le-

vel consistent with the total amount of receivables. 

Risk management, particularly related to personal 

loans and credit where higher amounts are sought, 

benefi ts considerably from the use of customer 

information drawn from the NRKI (the Non-

-bank Register of Client Information) and SOLUS 

registers. Thanks to this information, it is possible 

to make better assessments of a customer’s overall 

fi nancial situation, to adapt to customer needs, 

and, in particular, to steer customers away from 

over-indebtedness. This ensures that the obligati-

ons of responsible lending are met. 

Systematic attention is paid to techniques for 

preventing credit fraud, the assessment of cus-

tomer creditworthiness and control automation. 

In 2014, attention was again paid to the intensive 

training of individual business sections in order to 

deepen knowledge of credit risk management and 

intensify the quest for balanced rules on risk in the 

provision of credit products. Customers’ payment 

protection insurance was another factor consis-

tent with the level of credit risk. Harnessing syner-

gies within the BNP Paribas Group, the Company 

off ered a portfolio of insurance products covering 

customers’ inability to pay their fi nancial commit-

ments in case adverse personal situations arise.

Cetelem creates provisions to cover potential 

losses. Provisioning takes place in accordance 

with IFRS international accounting standards 

and group practices. The rate of depreciation of 

consumer loan claims is determined by statistical 

methods based on historical experience of the re-

covery of similar debts. Provisions for receivables 

are re-valued on a monthly basis by reference to 

statistical parameters from the preceding quarter. 

The Company also creates provisions for 

receivables not currently registered as past-due, 

but in respect of which customers have been gran-

ted deferral. The risk committee was kept abreast 

of developments in credit risk and related topics. 

Debt recovery

In 2014, the Company continued to work on ho-

ning debt recovery procedures and processes. In 

order to increase customer satisfaction with the 

recovery process in the early stages, the Compa-

ny introduced a regular poll to gauge Customers’ 

views of Company instruments, approaches and 

off ers on how to deal with their circumstances. 

Customer feedback is used to tweak internal pro-

cedures, train employees and eradicate some of the 

reasons behind complaints. The Company believes 

that this instrument is appreciated not only by cus-

tomers, who have a platform to voice their opini-

ons on the recovery process (the response rate is 

14%), but also by employees, for whom regular poll 

results indicate how well they are doing their jobs.     

The implementation of research into customer 

satisfaction with the recovery process has given the 

Company another tool as it seeks to refi ne the reco-

very process to bring it more closely into line with 

customers’ situations and facilitate a case-by-case 

approach to customers’ circumstances, with due con-

sideration for their profi ling and payment history. 

The Company continued to maintain its high quali-

ty and effi  ciency in all areas of the standard recovery 

process. The pro-customer approach is covered by 

new Responsible Collection Methodology. 

Business results 

Once again, Cetelem fi gured among the Czech mar-

ket’s leading non-bank credit service providers to 

consumers in 2014. It lent CZK 12.05 billion, tanta-

mount to 8% year-on-year growth. In 2013, new loans 

amounted to CZK 11.15 billion. The Company expan-

ded its share of the market of leading consumer credit 

providers in the ČLFA association by 2% to 34% 2. 

Financial results

The Company reported an IFRS 2014 pre-tax profi t 

of CZK 1,409,813,000 up 1.3% on the previous year’s 

CZK 1,392,094,000. 

The Company’s profi t from fi nancing activities clim-

bed by 2.9% year on year to CZK 2,729,502,000. Net 

interest income, amounting to CZK 2,186,929,000 

and constituting a year-on-year rise by 4.4%, 

accounted for the largest proportion of revenues.

Total operating costs as at 31 December 2014 stood 

at CZK 791,281,000, a 3% increase over the year. 

Costs were driven upwards mainly due to the 

year-on-year hike in new business and the reduced 

reimbursement of recovery costs. 

The total risk expense rose by 0.7% year on year to 

CZK 535,530,000. The year-on-year rise is in line 

with the growth in new loans in 2014. Suffi  cient pro-

visions were created to cover potential losses caused 

by having to write off  claims. As at 31 December 

2014, the Company decided to write off , in one go, 

claims stemming from credit for which no repay-

ment had been recorded in more than 24 months. 

With such claims standing at CZK 1,469,876,000, the 

overall depreciation was CZK 1,582,506,000. 

Company assets and sources of fi nancing

As at 31 December 2014, the Company’s total as-

sets amounted to CZK 16,615,964,000, up by 2.6% 

year on year and refl ecting the increase in claims 

from customers. Non-current assets were net-va-

lued at CZK 70,196,000, a drop by 14.2% compared 

with 2013. The bulk of new investments in 2014 

consisted of investment in the development of 

information systems, hardware and software. The 

most signifi cant area of Company assets (93.4%) 

comprises claims from customers, mainly arising 

in relation to lending operations, which rose by 

2.6% compared with 2013. Their net value at 31 

December 2014 was CZK 15,518,554,000.

Equity as at 31 December 2014 standing at CZK 

2,143,630,000. The Company recorded liabilities of 

CZK 14,472,334,000. The volume of credit facilities 

used by the Company expanded by 3.7% over the 

year. The Company’s liabilities mainly comprise 

bank loans received from entities operating in 

the Czech Republic and debt security issues, used 

by the Company to fi nance its business activities. 

Liabilities related to bank loans received and debt 

securities issued totalled CZK 14,044,300,000, up 

by 3.3% compared with 2013.

As the Company has issued bonds admitted to tra-

ding on the Prague Stock Exchange’s open market, 

since 2011 it has prepared fi nancial statements 

solely in accordance with international accounting 

standards.

VII Business and Financial Results of the Company

2 Source: ČLFA
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public and meet customers’ individual needs. The 

Company will also put a lot of energy into seeking 

out opportunities for further business growth in 

the Czech Republic in the medium term.

One of the main priorities will be the management 

of credit risk in order to maintain it at an accepta-

ble level. Principles of responsible lending will be 

applied when assessing loan applications, even 

if customers, due to adverse circumstances, fi nd 

themselves in diffi  culty with repayments. We will 

concentrate rigorously on optimising the lending 

rules in place with a view to achieving a balan-

ce between an acceptable degree of risk and the 

sustainable development of business activities. 

Despite the systematic attention paid to credit risk 

management, the estimate of future developments 

remains uncertain and the actual impact on the 

Company’s performance cannot be guaranteed.

Salient risk factors potentially exercising major 

infl uence over the future business results and ear-

nings of the successor organisation in 2015 on the 

territory of the Czech Republic would appear to be 

the further direction to be taken by the economy 

in the Czech Republic, the fi ercely competitive 

landscape, the ongoing trend of loan consolidation 

and more robust consumer protection. 

The strong backdrop off ered by the BNP Paribas 

international banking group, long-standing know-

-how in the realm of consumer fi nancing and the 

capital, material, technical, fi nancial and human 

resources that have been built up give us every 

reason to assume that, even after the planned 

merger goes ahead, the successor organisation will 

continue to fi gure among the leading providers of 

consumer credit on the Czech fi nancial market.

The Czech economy’s recovery in 2014 paves 

the way for further improvements in the macro-

economic landscape in 2015. GDP is projected 

to grow, driven forward primarily by large-scale 

investments, external demand and household 

consumption. Continued reductions in the unem-

ployment rate and a rise in household income and 

consumption are also forecast. This could have 

positive repercussions for the consumer credit 

market. Market interest rates, which are expected 

to remain stable, should also prove healthy for the 

future development of consumer lending.  

Bearing in mind that predictions of economic 

developments are rooted in estimates of numerous 

general and specifi c assumptions, there is always 

a risk that the actual situation could diff er signi-

fi cantly from the forecasts, and this could prove 

highly detrimental to both credit risk and demand 

for consumer credit. 

Cetelem is a member of BNP Paribas, the interna-

tional banking group which systematically looks 

for opportunities to push forward growth in its 

business activities while streamlining organisati-

on and harnessing synergy within the group. The 

planned merger of Cetelem with its parent compa-

ny, BNP Paribas Personal Finance, on 1 June 2015 

should help to simplify the corporate and admini-

strative structure in which the Group’s personal fi -

nance operations take place in the Czech Republic. 

With this in mind, BNP Paribas Personal Finance 

decided to exploit the opportunity of holding a sin-

gle licence within the EU by setting up a branch in 

the Czech Republic on 20 February 2015. When 

the merger takes eff ect, that branch will be respon-

sible for providing fi nancial services to the extent 

currently off ered by Cetelem. The main advan-

tages of this legal form (odštěpný závod – 

“company branch”) are that it will allow BNP Pari-

bas Personal Finance to optimise internal resour-

ces, focus on its core business without interrupti-

on, diversify its product range and, in the future, 

off er fi nancial products that can only be delivered 

by bank-licence-holders.

Current macroeconomic predictions suggest that, 

in 2015, there will be a moderate rise in demand 

for consumer credit, accompanied by growth in the 

volume of new business and an increase in the ove-

rall amount of receivables from consumer credit. 

The priority will continue to centre on the moni-

toring and enhancement of the quality of service 

provision, measured in particular by customer 

satisfaction, coupled by a focus on providing high-

-quality comprehensive and competitive fi nancial 

services that are simple, aff ordable for the general 

VIII Outlook
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the governing body knows of no other information 

on the interlinking capital or staffi  ng or other such 

links between the related parties.

Role of the controlled entity (Section 82(2)
(b) of the Business Corporations Act)

Both the Company and its parent, BNP Paribas 

Personal Finance SA, operate in the segment of 

retail banking services provided by the BNP 

Paribas group. The principal business is the gran-

ting of consumer credit and the provision 

of payment services.

Control method and resources (Section 
82(2)(c) of the Business Corporations Act)

BNP Paribas Personal Finance SA, as the Compa-

ny’s sole shareholder, exercises its infl uence di-

rectly by taking decisions as the sole shareholder 

acting within the capacity of the General Meeting. 

In this respect, it takes decisions on the composi-

tion of the Company’s governing and supervisory 

bodies. The strategic retail-service objectives 

pursued by the BNP Paribas group and BNP Pari-

bas Personal Finance SA in the Czech market are 

the responsibility of the persons appointed by the 

sole shareholder to the Company’s bodies. 

BNP Paribas Personal Finance SA also exercises 

its infl uence by enabling the Company to make 

use of the group’s technical solutions, provi-

ding consulting in the development of sales and 

information systems, and sharing know-how on 

the development and launch of new products, on 

the streamlining of internal processes and risk 

management, on the optimisation of work with 

the client portfolio, etc. The controlling entity’s 

representatives are appointed to the Company’s 

expert committees.

Negotiations held in 2014 (Section 82(2)(d) 
of the Business Corporations Act)

No negotiations on assets in excess of 10% of the 

Company’s equity, ascertained under the latest 

fi nancial statements, were held at the instigation 

or in the interests of controlling entities or the 

entities controlled by them in 2014. 

Related-party contracts (Section 82(2)(e) 
of the Business Corporations Act)

In this accounting period, the following contracts 

were in eff ect between the controlled entity and 

related parties (see next page):

This Report on Related-party Transactions has 

been drawn up for the accounting period from 

1 January to 31 December 2014 in accordance 

with Section 82 et seq. of Act No 90/2012 on bu-

siness corporations, in the version in force as at 

31 December 2014 (hereinafter referred to as the 

“Business Corporations Act”). 

Description of the controlled entity

CETELEM ČR, a.s., having its registered offi  ce at 

Praha 5, Karla Engliše 5/3208, 150 00, registration 

number: 25085689 (hereinafter referred to as the 

“Company”) is a public limited company incorpo-

rated by entry in the Commercial Register of the 

Municipal Court in Prague, Section B, File 4331, 

on 23 October 1996. As at 31 December 2014, the 

Company’s share capital amounted to CZK 180 

million. The Company does not constitute a cont-

rolling entity within the meaning of Section 74 of 

the Business Corporations Act. The Company’s 

principal business was the granting of consumer 

credit and the provision of payment services.

Description of the controlling entities

As at 31 December 2014, the persons constituting 

the Company’s controlling entities within the 

meaning of Sections 74 and 75 of the Business 

Corporations Act were BNP Paribas and BNP 

Paribas Personal Finance SA, both of which were 

established in France. The Company’s sole share-

holder from 1 January to 31 December 2014 was 

BNP Paribas Personal Finance SA. 

Structure of inter-party relations (Section 
82(2)(a) of the Business Corporations Act)

The Company is a subsidiary of BNP Paribas 

Personal Finance SA. BNP Paribas Personal 

Finance SA is a subsidiary of BNP Paribas. 

This Report has been produced on the basis of in-

formation on the BNP Paribas ownership structu-

re available to the governing body at p. 203: 

https://invest.bnpparibas.com/sites/default/fi les/

documents/ddr_2013_bnp_paribas_gb.31981_0.

pdf, other than the information presented here, 

3 Report of the Board of Directors 
of CETELEM ČR, a.s. on Relations Between 
the Controlling Entity and the Controlled 
Entity and Between the Controlled Entity and 
Entities Controlled by the Same Controlling 
Entity in 2014 (hereinafter referred to as 
the “Report on Related-party Transactions”)



134 135

Smluvní strana / 
Contracting Party Popis smlouvy / Description of Contract

ARVAL CZ s.r.o.

Smlouvy o poskytování služeb - správa vozového parku / Agreements on vehicle fl eet management and maintenance

Partnerská smlouva o spolupráci při poskytování úvěrů / Agreement  on cooperation in the arrangement of 
consumer credit

Banco BNP Paribas Personal 
Finance S.A.

Dohoda o podmínkách dočasného přidělení zaměstnance / Agreement on the terms and conditions for the 
international temporary assignment of an employee

BNP Paribas

Dohody o čerpání úvěrů/Agreements on the drawdown on loans

ISDA

Dohoda o podmínkách  provádění vnitřních auditů / Agreement on the conditions of the conduct of audits 

BNP Paribas Net Limited Přefakturace nákladů /Costs reinvoicing

BNP Paribas Cardif Pojišťovna, 
a.s.

Smlouvy o výkaznictví / Agreements on reporting

Rámcové smlouvy o pojištění / Framework contracts on insurance

Smlouva o podnájmu nebytových prostor / Agreement on commercial space sublease

Mandátní smlouva pojišťovacího agenta / Insurance agency agreement

Dílčí smlouvy k pojistným produktům / Individual contracts to insurance products

Smlouva o zvláštních odměnách / Agreement on Extra Commission

Smlouva o spolupráci a zprostředkování pojištění  / Agreement on cooperation and insurance mediation

BNP PARIBAS PERSONAL 
FINANCE S.A.

Dohoda o zpracování osobních dat zaměstnanců / Agreement on the processing of personal data of employees

Smlouva o nákupu serverů / Purchage agreements (servers)

Smlouva o poskytnutí SW / Contract for the provision of  SW

Smlouva o poskytování služeb - technické podpoře /Contract for the provision of services - technical support

Smlouva Region CEE / Convention Region Europe Central

Licenční smlouvy (ochranné známky) /Trade marks licence agreements

Smlouva o poskytnutí licence pro využívání software a IT podpoře / Contract for the provision of software 
licenses and IT support

Smlouva o poskytování služeb - údržba SW / Contract of service - maintenance SW

BNP Paribas Fortis Bank SA/NV
Overdraft Revolving Facility Agreement

Rámcová smlouva o termínovaných vkladech /Framework agreement on term deposits

BNPP ITP FAS Přefakturace nákladů /Costs reinvoicing

BNP PARIBAS PROCURE-
MENT TECH

Přefakturace nákladů /Costs reinvoicing

CETELEM SLOVENSKO

Smlouva o poskytování IT služeb / IT services Master Agreement

Smlouva o technické a personální pomoci / Contract on technical and personnel assistance

Smlouva o spolupráci (akceptace úvěrových karet) / Cooperation agreement (acceptance of credit cards)

CETNRAL EUROPE 
TECHNOLOGIES

Smlouva o poskytnutí licence pro využívání software a IT podpoře / Contract for the provision of software 
licenses and IT support

Smlouva o údržbě systému Expert / Expert system maintenance agreement

LEVAL DEVELOPPEMENT
Sublicenční smlouva / Sublicence contract

Smlouva o zpracování dat / Contract for data processing

LE SPHINX ASSURANCES Přefakturace nákladů / Costs reinvoicing

Magyar Cetelem Bank ZRt. Kupní smlouva / Sale and purchase agreement (devices)

Poisťovňa Cardif Slovakia, a.s. Dohoda o ukončení mandátní smlouvy / The agreement on the termination of the Mandate Agreement 

UBCI Smlouva o údržbě programového vybavení / Contract for software maintenance

The value of deliverables and other considerati-

on received from related parties in 2014 was CZK 

420,827,102; payments made by the Company 

amounted to CZK 1,131,843,969 and included 

payment for a part of deliverables and other consi-

deration received in preceding periods. The value 

of deliverables and other consideration provided 

by the Company to those parties in 2014 was CZK 

185,680,337. The Company received payments tota-

lling CZK 181,173,568, which also included the value 

of deliverables and other consideration provided in 

preceding periods. 

The single largest item, accounting for 23.68�% 

of the total, among the amounts received was the 

credit accepted from BNP Paribas S.A., where 

the price of the credit was determined using the 

method of comparable market prices.

This revenue stream also included interest on 

short-term time deposits held by the Company 

at BNP Paribas Fortis Bank SA/NV in 2014. The 

amount of the time deposit as of the end of 2014 

amounted to CZK 950,000,000. 

The Company has entered into refi nancing agre-

ements with several banks. The fulfi lment of the 

Company’s obligations deriving from such agree-

ments is secured with a bank guarantee issued by 

BNP PARIBAS.  

Assessment of relations with related par-
ties (Sections 82(2)(f) and 82(4) of the 
Business Corporations Act)

In 2014, no legal acts were executed at the instiga-

tion or in the interests of related parties in accor-

dance with the Business Corporations Act. Nor 

were any measures carried out in the interests or 

at the instigation of related parties. 

The relations between the related parties did not 

extend beyond customary business relations; 

they were carried out on arm’s-length pricing 

conditions and no transactions that would or 

could cause any loss or detriment to the Company 

were recorded. 

The controlled entity incurred no material loss 

or detriment under the contracts and agreements 

concluded. 

On the basis of its relations with related parties, 

the Company is not in an advantageous or disa-

dvantageous position in connection with third 

parties and is not exposed to any risks attaching 

to the existence of relations with related parties.  

Confi dentiality

Among the related parties, information and 

circumstances that, by nature, constitute internal 

information of the controlling entity, controlled 

entity, and other related parties are understood 

to be confi dential, as is information designated 

as confi dential by any related party. Confi dential 

information also includes all business informa-

tion that, on its own or in connection with other 

information or circumstances, may cause loss or 

detriment to any of the related parties.

To prevent loss or detriment to any of the entities 

named herein, the governing body’s Report does 

not disclose any other information or facts. 

Conclusion

This Report has been drawn up by the Compa-

ny’s governing body and will be submitted to the 

Supervisory Board for review. This Report is part 

of the Company’s Annual Report for 2014 and 

will be fi led in the Company’s collection of in-

struments attached to the Commercial Register 

maintained by the Municipal Court in Prague. 
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on on the presented fi nancial statements as at 

31 December 2014 is unqualifi ed;

→  there are no comments on the eff ectiveness 

of the internal control system.

On the basis of its review of the annual fi nancial 

statements as at 31 December 2014 and proposal 

for profi t distribution, the Supervisory Board 

recommends to the sole shareholder:

→  to approve the Company’s annual fi nancial 

statements as at 31 December 2014, and 

→  to approve the Board of Directors’ proposal for 

profi t distribution as follows: 

to transfer the profi t reported for 2014 calendar 

year (IFRS) of CZK 1,089,920,471 to the account 

of retained profi t. 

The account of retained profi t (including retained 

profi t from previous years) will thereafter hold 

CZK 1,912,641,038.

Prague, 30 April 2015 

Alain van Groenendael

In 2014 the Company’s Supervisory Board carried 

out its activities in accordance with Section 446 

of Act No 90/2012 Coll. on business corporati-

ons, the Company’s Articles of Association, and 

conclusions adopted by general meetings. 

This Report has been prepared with regard to Se-

ction 83 and 447 of Act on business corporations.

On the basis of the information and materials 

available to it, the Supervisory Board notes that 

the Company carries on its business in accordan-

ce with the applicable laws, the Company’s Ar-

ticles of Association, and the resolutions passed 

by the General Meeting.  

The Supervisory Board has reviewed the Board 

of Directors’ Report on Relations between the 

Controlling Person and the Controlled Person, 

and on Relations between the Controlled Person 

and Other Persons Controlled by the Same Con-

trolling Person for accounting period 2014, and 

notes the following:

→  the Board of Directors’ Report on Relations 

between the Controlling Person and the Con-

trolled Person, and on Relations between the 

Controlled Person and Other Persons Contro-

lled by the Same Controlling Person has been 

prepared within the law;

→  according to information available to the 

Supervisory Board, the Board of Directors’ Re-

port is complete and the disclosures contained 

in the Report are correct;

→  no operations at variance with customary 

business relations have been identifi ed and no 

damage to the company caused by relations 

between Related Parties has been identifi ed. 

The Supervisory Board has reviewed the results 

of the periodical internal audits at the Compa-

ny and notes that the results of audits serve for 

remedying the shortcomings identifi ed and for 

adopting remedial measures.

On the basis of the information available to the 

Supervisory Board about the Company’s busi-

ness, its examination of bookkeeping and review 

of the annual fi nancial statements for the accoun-

ting period of 2014, and the auditor’s report on 

audit of the annual fi nancial statements for 2014, 

the Supervisory Board notes the following:

→  the Company’s bookkeeping refl ects reality 

and complies with the law on accounting and 

other legal regulations and the fi nancial state-

ments give a true and fair view of the account-

ing unit’s fi nancial situation;

→  annual fi nancial statements have been audited 

by Mazars Audit s.r.o., and the auditor’s opini-

4 Report of the Supervisory Board 
of CETELEM ČR, a.s. 

ril 2015
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Board of Directors

Vice Chairman 
of the Board 
of Directors

Risk 
Direction

Project 
Office Danube

Operations 
& Processes 

Direction

Finance Direction

IT Direction

Marketing 
& Communication 

Direction

Commercial 
Division

General Secretary

Legal Services 
Department

Compliance 
Department

Human Resources 
& Internal 

Communication 
Department

Executive 
Office

Logistics Unit

Central 
Procurement 
Department

5 Declaration of the Management 
of CETELEM ČR, a.s.

6 Organisational Structure

The undersigned hereby declare that, to their 

best knowledge, the annual report gives a true 

and fair view of the fi nancial situation, business 

and fi nancial results of CETELEM ČR, a.s., for 

the previous fi nancial year and the prospects for 

future development of the fi nancial situation, 

business and fi nancial results.

Prague, 30. 4. 2015

Emmanuel Bourg

Vice-Chairman, Board of Directors

CETELEM ČR, a.s.

Milan Bušek

Vice-Chairman, Board of Directors

CETELEM ČR, a.s.
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Fulfi lled Wishes

Throughout its existence, Cetelem has been helping people to fulfi l their needs and desires. 

Some of them bought what they wanted with a credit card, others relied on a personal loan, car loan, 

or credit granted at the retailer. People use the funds to fi nance in particular household equipment, 

renovation, the purchase of a car or computer equipment. 
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Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2014 (CZK ‘000)

Description Ref. 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Total assets  16,615,964 16,202,321

Cash and cash equivalents IV.1 1,479 2,254

Receivables from banks IV.2 968,889 920,169

Receivables from clients IV.3 15,518,554 15,121,741

Other long-term securities and investments IV.4 12,295 11,790

Tax assets – current and deferred IV.5 1,113 20,576

Property, plant and equipment IV.6 36,964 41,371

Intangible assets IV.7 33,232 40,398

Other assets IV.8 43,438 44,022

Liabilities  14,472,334 13,951,873

Liabilities to banks IV.9 11,047,541 11,099,556

Debt securities issued IV.10 2,996,759 2,498,898

Provisions IV.11 28,066 30,638

Tax liabilities – current and deferred IV.12 24,053 915

Other liabilities IV.13 375,915 321,866

Equity  2,143,630 2,250,448

Owners’ equity IV.14 2,143,630 2,250,448

Share capital IV.14 180,000 180,000

Reserve funds and other reserves IV.14 44,011 52,521

Retained profi t IV.14 822,719 923,497

Other comprehensive gains, losses IV.14 11,723 11,218

Gains or losses from revaluation of assets and liabilities IV.14 -4,743 -7,200

Profi t/loss for the period IV.14 1,089,920 1,090,412

Share attributable to minority shareholders IV.1

Total liabilities and equity  16,615,964 16,202,321

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ending 31 December 2014 (in CZK ‘000)

 Description Ref. 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Interest income V.1 2,415,529 2,391,065

Interest expense V.1 -228,600 -296,504

Net interest income  2,186,929 2,094,561

Income from fees and commissions V.2 571,685 591,515

Fee and commission expenses V.2 -41,131 -48,615

Net income from fees& commissions 542,900 530,554

Dividend income V.3 4,147 2,757

Income from investments and participations  

Net income from trading and hedging activities  

Other income/expense V.4 7,872 11,790

Operating income  2,729,502 2,652,008

Payroll and personnel costs V.5 -344,906 -344,566

General operating costs V.6 -384,972 -363,300

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment V.7 -22,777 -24,167

Amortisation of intangible assets V.8 -38,626 -35,917

OPERATING COSTS  -791,281 -767,950

Operating income before asset impairment and provisions  1,938,221 1,884,058

Impairment of receivables V.9 -535,530 -531,815

Impairment of assets V.10 4,550 3,386

Net additions/charges to provisions V.11 2,572 36,465

Profi t before tax  1,409,813 1,392,094

Income tax  IV.12 -319,893 -301,682

 – current IV.12 -297,817 -268,394

 – deferred IV.12 -22,076 -33,288

Profi t / loss for the period, after tax 1,089,920 1 090 412

Other comprehensive income for the period, after tax  2,962 869

Total comprehensive income for the period 1,092,882 1 091 281

Comprehensive income for the period, attributable to:  

 - company owners  1,092,882 1,091,281

 - minority shareholders  

Loss / earnings per share – basic V.13 6.07 6.06

Loss / earnings per share – diluted V.13  

1 Balance Sheet 2 Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Changes in equity
(in CZK ‘000)

Issued 
capital

Reserve fund 
& other capital 

funds & re-
tained profi t *

Revaluation 
diff erences

Revaluation 
of realisable fi -
nancial assets 

Total

1 January 2013 180,000 2,106,418 -1,099 4,248 2,289,567

Dividend payment -1,130,400 -1,130,400

Income for the accounting period 1,090,412 869 1,091,281

31 December 2013 180,000 2,066,430 -230 4,248 2,250,448

Dividend payment -1,199,700 -1,199,700

Income for the accounting period 1,089,920 2,962 1,092,882

31 December 2014 180,000 1,956,650 2,732 4,248 2,143,630

3 Statement of Changes in Equity

* Reserve fund and other capital funds and retained profi t include the statutory reserves, net profi t for the 

period, and retained profi t. 

Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ending 31 December 2014 (in CZK ‘000)

 Description 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Cash at the beginning of the period 922,423 932,686

Accounting profi t or loss from ordinary activities before tax 1,409,813 1,392,094

Adjustment for non-cash transactions -1,888,865 -1,821,310

Fixed asset depreciation/amortisation 61,401 60,084

Change in allowances and provisions -1,060,632 363,948

Gain (loss) from the disposal of fi xed assets -4,550 -3,386

Proceeds from dividends and profi t sharing -4,147 -2,757

Net interest expense and income -2,451,859 -2,338,112

Adjustments for other non-cash transactions, if any 1,570,922 98,913

Net cash fl ow from operating activities before tax, change in working capital and 
non-recurring items 

-479,052 -429,216

Change in the non-cash portion of working capital 40,388 -1,421,744

Change in receivables from operating activities, prepayment accounts and estimated receivables -730,524 -562,672

Change in current liabilities from operating activities and estimated payables -770,912 -859,072

Change in inventories

Change in current fi nancial assets not included in cash 

Net cash fl ow from operating activities before tax and non-recurring items -438,664 -1,850,960

Interest expense excluding capitalised interest -124,530 -176,286

Interest income 2,493,641 2,454,875

Income tax on ordinary activities paid and additional assessments for previous years -277,867 -294,621

Income and expense on non-recurring accounting transactions 

Dividends and profi t shares received 4,147 2,757

Net cash fl ow from operating activities 1,656,727 135,765

Fixed asset acquisition costs -49,916 -54,483

Proceeds from the disposal of fi xed assets 4,639 3,668

Loans to related parties -768 -2,932

Net cash fl ow from investing activities -46,045 -53,747

Change in non-current liabilities -363,037 1,038,119

Change in equity -1,199,700 -1,130,400

Payment of equity shares to members

Additional cash contributions from members and shareholders

Loss settlement by members

Direct payments from reserves

Dividends paid -1,199,700 -1,130,400

Net cash fl ow from fi nancing activities -1,562,737 -92,281

Net increase or decrease in cash and cash equivalents 47,945 -10,263

Cash at the end of the period 970,368 922,423

4 Statement of Cash Flows



244 245

CETELEM ČR, a.s. (hereinafter referred to as 

“the Company“) was incorporated on 23 October 

1996 and started its business in June 1997. Its 

share capital is CZK 180,000,000.  

Registered offi  ce:

CETELEM ČR, a.s.

Company No. [IČ] 25 08 56 89

Incorporated in the Companies Register with the 

Municipal Court in Prague, Section B, File 4331

Praha 5, Karla Engliše 5/3208, Post Code 150 00

Lines of business: 

A/  services in the administrative management 

area, services of an economic and organisa-

tional nature (comprising the provision of 

non-bank credit and loans, issuance of credit 

cards, out-of-court debt collection for third 

parties, operations addressing insolvency, re-

ceivables purchasing, receivables assignment);  

B/  data processing, hosting and related activities, 

network administration; 

C/  intermediation of trade and services;

D/  leasing and lending of movable assets (inclu-

ding lease-purchase schemes, fi nance leases, 

operating leases, and offi  ce furnishings and 

equipment leasing and lending);

E/   advice and consulting, expert studies and 

opinions;

F/  out-of-school education and training, orga-

nising technical training courses, including 

lecturing; 

G/  purchase goods for resale and sale;

H/  broking activities in the insurance industry; 

I/   providing or procurement of consumer credit;

J/   payment institution activity in the extent of 

payment services in accordance with permissi-

on of the Czech National Bank. 

In compliance with the applicable Act no. 

284/2009 Coll., on the Payment system, 

as amended, the Company obtained a Payment 

Institution license issued by the Czech National 

Bank. This permission is necessary for issuing 

and administration of means of payments (credit 

cards) and related activities.

5 Notes to the Financial Statements

I Background

I.1 Company Organisation and Lines of Business

I.2 Governing and Supervisory Bodies 
As at 31 December 2014

Governing body  Position  In offi  ce from

Board of Directors

Charles McArthur Chairman of the Board of Directors 27 November 2012

Emmanuel Bourg Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors 23 May 2014

Milan Bušek Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors 11 June 2012

Eric Turbot Member of the Board of Directors 6 May 2013

Miguel Pereira Member of the Board of Directors 11 April 2014

Supervisory Board

Alain Van Groenendael Chairman of the Supervisory Board 11 June 2012

Georgi Dimitrov Georgiev Member of the Supervisory Board 1 November 2012

Václav Horák Member of the Supervisory Board 23 May 2014

Audit Committee

Georgi Dimitrov Georgiev Chairman of the Audit Committee 1 November 2012

Květoslava Vyleťalová Vice-Chairman of the Audit Committee 22 June 2010

Nesrin Gonin Member of the Audit Committee 11 April 2014

The Board of Directors granted the procuration to Blažena Valkošáková and Christophe Bordeaux 

as at 16 September 2014. 
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I.3 Organisational Structure

Number of Employees – Average Full Time 
Equivalents

I.4 Persons Holding More Than 20% of the Com-
pany’s Share Capital and the Size of Their Interest

Year Total Of whom, managers

2013 418 14

2014 415 14

Shareholder Registered offi  ce of the company % of the share capital 

BNP Paribas Personal Finance S.A. bd Haussmann 1, 75009, Republic of France 100%

Total  100%

No major change was made in the Company’s organisational structure during the 2014 accounting period. 

The Company has no separate organisational component. 

The Company’s parent company is BNP Paribas S.A. with its registered offi  ce at 16, boulevard des Italiens 

750 09 Paris, Republic of France. CETELEM ČR, a.s. is a part of the consolidation group of BNP Paribas S.A.

The Company is incorporated in the Companies 

Register maintained with the Municipal Court in 

Prague, Section B, File 4331. 

On the basis of decision of the sole shareholder 

there was a change in the composition of the 

Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board du-

ring the year 2014. As of 23 May 2014 the function 

of the Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors 

Václav Horák was terminated. Václav Horák be-

came on that day the member of the Supervisory 

Board. As at 23 May 2014 the Vice-Chairman of 

the Board of Directors became Emmanuel Bourg. 

As at 11 April 2014 Miguel Pereira became the 

Member of the Board.

As at 11 April 2014 Nesrin Gonin became the 

Member of the Audit Committee.

The competency to represent the Company in 

the range of procuration for Blažena Valkošáková 

and Christophe Bordeaux was registered in the 

Companies Register.

Eff ective from 1 January 2014, the Company op-

ted in Act No 90/2012 on Business Corporations, 

as a whole.

I.5 Amendments Made to the Companies Register
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No agreements conferring decision-making ri-

ghts regardless of the interest in the share capital 

were entered into between members in 2014 or in 

the preceding years. No controlling agreements 

or profi t transfer agreements were concluded. 

As of 22 December 2014 a joint project of a cross-

-border merger between CETELEM ČR, a.s., as 

a wholly owned subsidiary of BNP Paribas Per-

sonal Finance, SA and its sole shareholder BNP 

Paribas Personal Finance, SA, as a succession 

company, was signed.

The aim of the merger, which is planned on 1 

June 2015, is the simplifi cation of the corporate 

and administrative structure in which the group 

in the Czech Republic in the fi eld of personal 

fi nance operates. The group also wants to use the 

synergetic eff ects in the preparation of banking 

products off ers and in their administration.

For this purpose, BNP Paribas Personal Finance 

decided to use the option of the single licence 

within the EU and established the branch in the 

Czech Republic as for 20 February 2015. The 

Branch will provide fi nancial services from the 

eff ective date of the merger to the same extent 

that they are still off ered by CETELEM ČR, a.s.

That legal form will enable BNP Paribas Personal 

Finance primarily to optimise its own funds, con-

tinuous focus on the core business, product off ers 

diversifi cation and off ering of other types of ban-

king products in the future for which the banking 

licence is necessary. The decisive date of merger 

is supposed on 1 January 2015 for the accounting 

and tax purposes.

I.6 Agreements and Contracts

These fi nancial statements were prepared in accor-

dance with the International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Uni-

on (version in force as at 31 December 2014). 

In accordance with the processes of the BNP 

Paribas Group, the company did not apply some 

regulations of IAS 39 about hedge accounting and 

some adjustments which were not approved.

There were not used new standards, amendments 

and interpretations adopted by the European 

Union whose implementation was not compulso-

ry for the year 2014.

Standards mandatory from 1 January 2014 with 

no impact on the fi nancial statement as at 31 De-

cember 2014 were not applied.

The BNP Paribas consolidation group, which also 

includes CETELEM ČR, a.s., applies the Interna-

tional Financial Reporting Standards, adopted 

as binding for use in the European Union. For 

this reason, and also considering the fact that the 

Company issued bonds on the basis of the appro-

ved Bond programme by the Czech National Bank 

as at 29 December 2010, CETELEM ČR, a.s. has 

decided to use only the International Financial 

Reporting Standards for bookkeeping and has 

prepared the fi nancial statements in accordance 

with these Standards since the beginning of the 

year 2011.

II Basis of Preparation

II.1 Statement of Compliance

II.2 Purpose of Financial Statements
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The fi nancial statements were prepared in accor-

dance with the International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS), including the International 

Accounting Standards (IAS) issued by the Inter-

national Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 

the Interpretations adopted by the IASB’s Interna-

tional Financial Reporting Interpretations Com-

mittee (IFRIC), approved for use in the European 

Union and applied by the BNP Paribas Group. 

The 2014 fi nancial statements do not cover any 

new standards, amendments or interpretations 

(SIC) adopted by the European Union, which were 

not binding for 2014 and standards applied by the 

European Union because their application should 

has no impact on the 2014 fi nancial statements. 

The Company’s books are kept in compliance 

with the generally accepted accounting and re-

porting principles, including, but not limited to, 

the following: 

→  true and fair view principle – selection of accoun-

ting principles that are relevant for the decision-

-making needs of the users of fi nancial informa-

tion and are reliable, i.e., credibly present the 

Company’s results and fi nancial position and 

refl ect the economic nature of events, and are 

neutral, prudent and complete in all respects; 

→  going-concern principle – the Company is expec-

ted to continue operating in the future periods; 

→  accrual principle (independence of accounting 

periods) – transactions and events are taken 

account of in the accounting period in which 

they occur. This principle allows recognising the 

time lag between sales and purchases on the one 

hand and payment of cash on the other. Accru-

als/deferrals are recognised on a monthly basis; 

→  consistency principle (permanence of me-

thods) – the methods of reporting and classi-

fi cation of fi nancial accounting items do not 

change, except for changes required by accoun-

ting standards or by reclassifi cation of items is 

achieved  a better presentation of an event; 

→  materiality and aggregation principle – items 

material for users’ economic decision-making 

are presented separately, whereas immaterial 

items are aggregated with other similar items; 

→  no-off set principle – payables and receivables, 

as well as costs and revenues, are reported se-

parately, unless required or permitted by IFRS; 

→  comparative information principle – compara-

tive information is disclosed in respect of the 

previous period for all amounts reported in the 

fi nancial statements.

III Signifi cant Accounting Policies. Segment 
Information

III.1 Signifi cant Accounting Policies

III.2 Accounting Principles
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Under the Company’s rules, the consolidation group 

comprises the accounting entities over which the 

Company solely exercises control, jointly exerci-

ses control or is under the signifi cant infl uence of 

the company with the exception of entities which 

are immaterial for the Group. The company is not 

obliged to prepare consolidated fi nancial statement 

if its individual fi nancial statement is suffi  cient for 

fi lling a true and fair view of the accounting and 

fi nancial situation of the consolidation unit. The 

reason is that controlled entities are immaterial 

individually and in aggregate.

Immateriality means a situation of an equity in-

terest in a company, where none of the following 

assumptions is met: i) a contribution of at least 

EUR 15 million from consolidated income; ii) 

a contribution of at least EUR 1 million to the in-

come before tax; iii) a contribution of more than 

EUR 500 million to consolidated assets. 

The Company’s equity interests do not meet 

any of the above conditions and are disclosed in 

“Other Long-term Securities and Investments”.

A/ Classifi cation

Financial assets include, without being limited 

to, the loans provided by the Company. Loans and 

receivables are fi nancial assets with fi xed or pre-

-determinable payments, which are not tradable 

in an active market. 

B/ Measurement

Upon acquisition, at the moment of entering into 

an agreement concerning the fi nancial instrument 

in question, loans are measured at fair value, which 

includes the initial costs of acquisition of the asset 

plus the payments of fees and commissions recei-

ved, accrued by the eff ective interest rate method. 

Subsequently, loans are re-measured to the carry-

ing amount, i.e., the value of the fi nancial asset 

at acquisition reduced by the instalments on the 

principal and further reduced or increased by the 

cumulative amortisation of the diff erence between 

the initial value and value at maturity, measured 

on the basis of the eff ective interest rate, and fur-

ther reduced by impairment losses, if any. 

Income from loans includes interest and the 

amortisation of transaction costs and received 

fees (commissions that are included in the initial 

acquisition cost of the loans, using the eff ective 

interest rate method, and are recognised in reve-

nues and expenses over the life of the asset). 

The Company does not hold or issue any other 

fi nancial instruments re-measured to fair value 

with impact on the Income Statement. 

Trade receivables are recognised in their carrying 

amount. 
Investments in participations with signifi cant 

infl uence are valued by the equity method, i.e. 

on the basis of the share of equity held. To have 

a signifi cant infl uence means to participate in 

the fi nancial and operating policy decisions of 

another company in which the Company holds an 

equity interest but which it does not control fully. 

To have signifi cant infl uence, the Company must 

hold directly or indirectly at least 20% of the 

voting rights. In the fi nancial statements, equi-

ty interests are presented in “Other Long-term 

Securities and Investments” (measured by the 

equity method) in the Assets part of the Balance 

Sheet and re-measurement is included in the 

relevant part of equity. When the loss of a compa-

ny in which the Company holds an equity interest 

reaches or exceeds the equity interest, the value 

of the equity interest is reduced to nil and the 

Company’s interest is written off  as a future loss. 

Recognition of further losses is discontinued ex-

cept to the extent that the Company is obliged to 

cover the loss under the law or under contract.

III.3 Consolidation III.5 Financial Instruments

III.5.1 Receivables and Loans

III.4 Participations with Signifi cant Infl uence
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Financial instruments issued by the Company are 

classifi ed as debt instruments in such case that 

there is a commitment of the Company to deliver 

cash or another fi nancial assets to the holder of 

the fi nancial instrument.

Debt securities are valued by the emission value 

on the issue including transaction costs and sub-

sequently measured at amortised cost used the 

eff ective interest rate method.

Derivatives contracted as part of a hedging relati-

onship are designated according to the purpose of 

the hedge. 

Cash fl ow hedges are particularly used to hedge in-

terest rate risk on fl oating-rate assets and liabilities. 

The Company prepares formal documentation 

for hedging which details the hedging relation-

ship, identifying the instrument, or portion of the 

instrument, the hedging strategy and the type of 

risk hedged, the hedging instruments, and the 

methods used to assess the eff ectiveness of the 

hedging relationship.

On inception and at least quarterly, the Company 

assesses, in consistency with the original docu-

mentation, the actual (retrospective) and expec-

ted (prospective) eff ectiveness of the hedging 

relationship. Retrospective eff ectiveness tests 

are designed to assess whether actual changes in 

the fair value or cash fl ows of the hedging instru-

ment and the hedged item are within a range of 

80% to 125%. Prospective eff ectiveness tests are 

designed to ensure that expected changes in cash 

fl ows of the derivative over the residual life of 

the hedge adequately off set those of the hedged 

items. For highly probable forecast transactions, 

eff ectiveness is assessed largely on the basis of 

historical data for similar transactions.

The accounting treatment of derivatives and hed-

ged items depends on the hedging strategy. 

In a cash fl ow hedging relationship, the derivative 

is measured at fair value in the balance sheet, 

with changes in fair value taken to shareholders’ 

equity on a separate line, “Gains or losses from 

revaluation of assets and payables”. The amounts 

taken to shareholders’ equity over the life of the 

hedge are transferred to the Statement of Com-

prehensive Income under “Net interest income”. 

The hedged items continue to be accounted for 

using the treatment specifi c to the category to 

which they belong.

If the hedging relationship ceases or no longer 

fulfi ls the eff ectiveness criteria, the cumulative 

amounts recognised in shareholders’ equity 

as a result of the measurement of the hedging 

instrument remain in equity until the hedged 

transaction itself impacts profi t or loss, or until it 

becomes clear that the transaction will not occur, 

at which point they are transferred to the State-

ment of Comprehensive Income. If the hedged 

item ceases to exist, the cumulative amounts 

recognised in shareholders’ equity are immedia-

tely taken to the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income. Whatever the hedging strategy used, any 

ineff ective portion of the hedge is recognised in 

the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

III.5.3 Debt Securities

III.5.4 Derivatives and Hedge Accounting

Financial liabilities include interest-bearing bank 

loans, bank overdrafts, issued securities, trade 

payables and other liabilities.

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are 

stated at remaining value using the eff ective inte-

rest rate. 

III.5.2 Financial Liabilities
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doubtful debtors. This calculation also helps to 

estimate future losses from the portfolio of recei-

vables, taking into account the trends of the econo-

mic cycle in the period of estimation. Changes in 

the allowance on a portfolio basis are recognised in 

the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

On the basis of an expert decision, the Company 

can create additional allowances on a portfolio 

basis to cover unexpected economic events. 

This approach is applied when it is not possible to 

use in an eff ective manner the parameters from 

portfolios of loans with similar characteristics. 

A/ Doubtful loans 

For doubtful loans are considered assets where is 

a risk that debtors will not be able to meet all are 

part of its obligations.

B/ Impairment of fi nancial assets, 
provisioning and hedging

The Company reports impairment of fi nancial 

assets in the case that (i) there exist objective 

reasons for permanent impairment as a result of 

a future loss event which occurred after the origi-

nate of the loan or assets acquisition, or (ii) due to 

an event aff ecting the amount or timing of future 

cash fl ows, and (iii) the probability of loss can be 

reliably measured. 

The Company assesses the probability of perma-

nent impairment of loans from the viewpoint of 

individual loans as well as from the viewpoint of 

asset groups. 

On an individual basis, an asset is treated as im-

paired:

→  in the case of a receivable overdue for three 

months,

→  it is known, or indications exist, that the debtor 

is in serious fi nancial diffi  culties and the risk 

exists that obligations will not be honoured.

Impairment of fi nancial assets refl ects the dif-

ference between the pre-failure value and the 

present value, discounted by the initial eff ecti-

ve rate of interest on the asset consisting of its 

components (the principal, interest etc.) that are 

considered to be non-recoverable. 

The changes resulting from impairment of fi -

nancial assets are recognised in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income and are reversed only if 

the subsequent increase in the recoverable value 

is attributable to events that occurred after the 

initial recognition of permanent impairment. 

Impairment loss is reversed only to the extent 

that the book value of the asset does not exceed 

the amortised value that would be determined if 

there were no permanent impairment loss. 

In the case of failure of an asset, the theoretical 

interest income to be included in the asset (me-

asured by the initial eff ective interest rate and 

discounted using the assumed recoverable cash 

fl ow) is recognised in ‘interest income’ in the Sta-

tement of Comprehensive Income. Impairment 

of loans is carried in the separate accounts of 

the allowances that reduce the value of the loans 

recognised in assets at cost. 

Financial assets are written off  in part or in full 

and the respective allowances reversed when all 

available debt collection methods have failed or 

the time for debt collection expired or when the 

Company transfers all risks and rewards related 

to the fi nancial asset to a diff erent subject. All 

rights and obligations related to the transfer are 

recognised separately as assets or liabilities. 

For receivables for which impairment is not mo-

nitored on an individual basis, the impairment is 

permanently valued on a portfolio basis with the 

pooling of loans with similar characteristics. An 

internal rating scheme, using historical data, made 

it possible to develop this system. Historical data 

serve to estimate the probabilities of loss. This 

helps the Company to identify the group of debtors 

whose debts are likely to suff er permanent impair-

ment, and who are not recognised individually as 

III.5.5 Impairment of Financial Assets
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With regard to its line of business, the Company 

does not recognise inventories. Consumption 

of overhead material is charged to costs on the 

accrual basis. Material remaining unconsumed at 

the date of fi nancial statements is recognised as 

‘Other assets’.

Cost of risk includes allowances corresponding to 

the impairment of fi xed-income assets, in parti-

cular receivables on loans and receivables from 

fi nancial institutions. The cost of risk item also 

includes the reported losses caused by bad debt 

write-off  and proceeds from written-off  receiva-

bles, and damage caused by fraud. 

III.8 Inventories

III.9 Cost of Risk

Foreign currency transactions are transactions 

denominated or requiring settlement in a currency 

other than the functional currency. A functional 

currency is the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which the Company operates. The 

method employed depends on the classifi cation 

of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in a foreign currency are translated 

into Czech crowns at the end of reporting period at 

the exchange rate of the Czech National Bank at that 

date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denomina-

ted in a foreign currency, which are stated at histori-

cal cost, are translated at the foreign exchange rate as 

at the date of the transaction.

Foreign exchange diff erences arising on translati-

on are charged to fi nancial expense or to fi nancial 

income as at the date of the fi nancial statements. 

Financial assets and liabilities are off set and the net 

amount is reported in the Balance Sheet only when 

the Company has a legally enforceable right to off set 

the recognised amounts and intends to settle the 

respective asset and the respective liability on a net 

basis or to realise the asset and settle the respective 

liability at the same time. 

III.6 Foreign Currency Transactions

III.7 Financial Assets and Liabilities Off setting
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Depreciation / Amortisation Plan: 

Name
Accounting depreciation

Period of depreciation

Software and other intangible non-current assets 3 years

Offi  ce buildings / improvement Term of lease (in fi xed-term agreements)

– building 80 – 60 years

– façade 30 years

– technical equipment 20 years

– fi xtures and fi ttings 10 years

Machines, instruments and equipment 5

Passenger cars 3

Equipment and furniture 5 or 8

Computers 3

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the 

Balance Sheet as operating assets and investment 

property. The Company currently records ope-

rating assets that are used for the provision of 

services. It does not own any investment property 

intended to generate income from rent.

Internal software which fulfi ls the Group capitali-

zation rules is capitalized at the amount of direct 

development expenses including external expen-

ses and staff  costs of participating employees. 

The assets for which substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership remain with the lessor 

are classifi ed as operating lease and these assets 

are not recognised in the Company’s Balance 

Sheet. Rent payments are recognised in the State-

ment of Comprehensive Income over the durati-

on of the lease. 

A/ Methods of valuation of non-current assets

Tangible and intangible non-current assets acqui-

red are valued at acquisition cost at the date of the 

accounting transaction. The acquisition cost also 

includes the costs directly related to the acquisiti-

on of the asset.

Thereafter the value of non-current assets is redu-

ced by accumulated depreciation and amortisation 

and further losses caused by impairment. 

 B/ Allowances for non-current assets

As at each date of fi nancial statements, the Com-

pany assesses the book value of its tangible and 

intangible assets, taking into account its possible 

impairment. If there are signals that the book 

value of an asset is higher than its estimated rea-

lisable value, the Company re-measures the asset 

to its realisable value by a one-time write-off . The 

asset impairment losses are recognised in the item 

of “change in allowances and provisions”. A stock-

-take of the assets was performed and no reasons 

were found for reducing their value by allowances 

for tangible and intangible non-current assets. 

C/ Methods of depreciation/amortisation

In its accounting, the Company depreciates its 

non-current assets on a straight-line basis accor-

ding to the approved depreciation plan, which re-

fl ects an expert assessment of the economic and 

technical useful life of the assets. Improvements 

of leased assets are depreciated over the period of 

use of the assets. The depreciation is recognised 

through the asset depreciation part of the State-

ment of Comprehensive Income.

When parts of an asset have diff erent useful lives, 

requiring replacement at diff erent times, such 

components are depreciated as separate items 

(technical equipment of leased premises).

Impairment of non-current assets is assessed at 

least once a year. When impairment of an asset is 

identifi ed, the Company posts an allowance that 

reduces the value of the asset and is recognised in 

profi t or loss (impairment of assets). The allo-

wances are reversed when the estimate of asset 

impairment is changed or when reasons for redu-

cing the value of the asset no longer exist. 

The loss or gain from the disposal of the tangible 

assets that were used for operating activities is 

recognised as ‘impairment’ (Statement of Com-

prehensive Income). 

III.10 Tangible and Intangible Assets
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Employee benefi ts are classifi ed in one of four 

categories:

→  short-term benefi ts, such as salary, annual 

leave, incentive plans, profi t-sharing, contri-

bution from the social fund and additional 

payments;

→  long-term benefi ts, including compensated ab-

sences, and other types of cash based deferred 

compensation;

→  termination benefi ts;

→  post-employment benefi ts, including 

pension plans.

The Company registers only short-term emo-

luments with maturity up to 12 months to its 

employees, specifi cally the wages, compensation 

for wages, other contributions, and benefi ts, ex-

pensed when paid. 

Provisions are created for potential liabilities ari-

sing from employees’ termination for redundancy 

and for remuneration of management where the 

payment depends on the fulfi lment of conditions 

in the future periods.

The Company has no long-term liabilities and no 

pension liabilities to its employees. Under Czech 

legislation, the State is responsible for the pay-

ment of pensions to employees. The Company 

pays regular contributions as required by the law, 

which are expensed when incurred. 

Cash comprises cash on hand and cash in transit. 

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid 

investments that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash and which are subject to an in-

signifi cant risk of changes in value. Cash equiva-

lents are held for the purpose of encashment in 

the near future rather than as investment. 

Interest income and expense related to all inte-

rest-bearing instruments are recognised in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income in the rele-

vant period, using the eff ective interest rate. De-

fault interest is included in interest income once 

paid by the debtor. Fees related to loan provision 

are a part of the eff ective interest rate. Other fees 

and commissions are allocated to their relevant 

periods. Dividends from investments are recogni-

sed when shareholders’ entitlement to dividend 

payment arises. 

A provision is recognised in liabilities when i) the 

Company has a present or constructive obligation 

as a result of a past event, ii) it is probable that 

a transfer of economic benefi ts will be required 

to settle the obligation and iii) a reliable estimate 

can be made of the amount of the obligation. If 

the eff ect of discounting is material, provisions 

are determined by discounting the expected futu-

re cash fl ows, refl ecting the current market-based 

time value of money. 

III.11 Employee Costs and Benefi ts III.13 Cash and Cash Equivalents

III.14 Revenue Accounting

III.12 Provisions
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The resultant tax amount stated in the Statement 

of Comprehensive Income includes the tax paya-

ble for the period and the deferred tax. 

Deferred tax

The accounting entity measures the deferred tax 

liability on the basis of the temporary diff eren-

ces caused by the diff erent accounting and tax 

treatment of certain items only when the Com-

pany expects to generate a future taxable income 

against which the temporary diff erences can be 

off set, provided that tax deductibility conditions 

are met. The corporate income tax rate enacted 

for the next taxation period, or the expected rate, 

is used for the measurement of deferred tax. 

Provision for income tax 

The accounting entity prepares its fi nancial 

statements before fi ling the annual tax return and 

therefore it is not possible to fully eliminate a di-

ff erence between the reported income tax paya-

ble and the actual tax liability. Such a diff erence, 

if any, is recognised in the period when the tax 

return is fi led and the tax paid. The amount of the 

current tax is based on the result for the current 

period, adjusted by items that are not taxable or 

tax deductible, and is measured using the tax ra-

tes enacted at the date of the fi nancial statements.

The income tax for the current period and the 

deferred tax are recognised in the ‘Income tax’ 

section of the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income. Part of the deferred tax related to the 

fair value revaluation of hedging instruments is 

recognized in the Balance sheet in part Owners’ 

equity (“Gains or losses from revaluation of assets 

and liabilities”).

The Company operates in the sector of loan 

provision to the retail segment. Its services are, 

for the most part, provided in the Czech Republic. 

Only a minor portion of its services are provided 

to other segments and therefore separate reporti-

ng by segment is not used. 

The preparation of fi nancial statements in accor-

dance with the IFRS requires the Company’s 

Management to make estimates and determine 

assumptions that can aff ect reported expenses 

and revenues in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income, the amounts of the assets and liabilities 

reported at the end of the reporting period in the 

Balance Sheet and the information published in 

the Financial Statement for the period. These 

estimates, which apply in particular to the valua-

tion of assets, and determination of impairment 

of assets and provisions, are based on information 

available at the end of the reporting period. The 

actual results may signifi cantly diff er from these 

estimates mainly due to the changes in market 

conditions. That can have a signifi cant impact on 

the fi nancial statements. 

The main areas in which material diff erences may 

occur between the actual result and the estimate 

include, in particular, allowances for loans, reva-

luation of derivative instruments for cash fl ow 

hedge including measurement of its eff ectiveness 

and provisions for potential liabilities. Informa-

tion about the key forward-looking assumptions 

and about other key sources of uncertainty in 

the estimates at the end of the reporting period, 

which involves a signifi cant risk of causing mate-

rial adjustments to the carried amounts of assets 

and liabilities in the next period, is provided 

within the relevant chapters. 

III.15 Income Tax and Deferred Tax III.16 Segment Reporting

III.17 The Use of Estimates
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IV Balance Sheet: Additional Information

IV.1 Cash and Cash Equivalents

IV.3 Receivables from Clients

IV.2 Receivables from Banks and Other Financial 
Institutions

Cash and cash equivalents (in CZK ‘000) 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Cash and valuables 1,479 2,254

Total 1,479 2,254

Receivables from clients (in CZK ‘000) 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Loans provided 18,940,274 19,601,522

Total receivables from clients 18,940,274 19,601,522

Of which doubtful loans 3,100,011 4,399,279

Allowances for receivables -3,421,720 -4,479,781

Net value of receivables from clients 15,518,554 15,121,741

Change in allowance for impaired assets 
(in CZK ‘000) 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Allowance at the beginning of the period -4,487,777 -4,087,364

Net increase in the allowance 1,058,061 -400,413

Allowance at the end of the period -3,429,716 -4,487,777

Change in allowance by asset type 
(in CZK ‘000) 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Receivables from fi nancial institutions -7,996 -7,996

Loans to and receivables from clients -3,421,720 -4,479,781

Allowance at the end of the period -3,429,716 -4,487,777

Receivables from fi nancial institutions (in CZK ‘000) 31. 12. 2014 31. 12. 2013

Bank accounts 26,885 28,165

Term-accounts 950,000 900,000

Total 976,885 928,165

Allowance for receivables from fi nancial institutions -7,996 -7,996

Receivables from fi nancial institutions (net value) 968,889 920,169



268 269

IV.4 Other Long-Term Securities and Investments IV.5 Tax Assets: Current and Deferred

Společnost pro informační databáze, a.s. (SID, a.s.) was not included in the consolidation group because CETE-

LEM ČR, a.s. does not have the position of a controlling or managing entity and because the investment in SID, 

a.s. is without any signifi cance for the Company in terms of the balance sheet total, net turnover and equity. 

In 2014, the value of this ownership interest was re-measured by the equity method as at the book closing date. 

The accounting entity is not a member with unlimited liability. 

Name, registered offi  ce
(in CZK ‘000) % of share capital 

Amount of equity for the 
2014 accounting period

*preliminary data

Accounting income 
for the 2014 

accounting period
*preliminary data

Společnost pro informační databáze, a.s., 
Praha 4, Antala Staška 510/38

27.96�% 41,932 16,630

Deferred tax (in CZK ‘000) 2014 2013

 Item Temporary 
diff erence

Tax 
rate

Deferred 
tax

Temporary 
diff erence

Tax 
rate

Deferred 
tax

Tangible and intangible 
non-current assets 

40,732 19% 7,739 29,756 19% 5,654

Accrued interest income

Amortisation of fees -190,810 19% -36,254 -192,619 19% -36,598

Total Assets -150,078 -28,515 -162,863 -30,944

Amortisation of fees 9,801 19% 1,862 16,376 19% 3,111

Liabilities arising from industrial 
relations 

31,715 19% 6,026 10,653 19% 2,024

Allowance for receivables 91,780 19% 17,438 235,241 19% 44,696

Total liabilities 133,296 25,326 262,270 49,831

Revaluation of equity 5,856 19% 1,113 8,889 19% 1,689

Total equity 5,856 1,113 8,889 1,689

Total deferred tax liability/tax 
asset 

-10,926 -2,076 108,296 20,576

Name, registered offi  ce
(in CZK ‘000)

% of share 
capital

Acquisition 
cost of fi nancial 

asset 

Valuation diff erence 
(equity method)

* preliminary data

Value on re-measurement 
at 31 December 2014 

(equity method)
* preliminary data

Společnost pro informační databáze, 
a.s., Praha 4, Antala Staška 510/38

27.96�% 572 11,723 12,295
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IV.6 Property, Plant and Equipment IV.7 Intangible Assets

Tangible non-current assets
(in CZK ‘000)

Buildings 
and 

construc-
tions

Machines, 
instruments and 

equipment and 
furnishings

Computers Passenger 
cars 

Tangible 
non-current 
assets total

Assets as at 1 January 2013 50,036 20,288 90,902 33,069 194,295

Additions to non-current assets 2,493 43 7,537 10,488 20,561

Disposals of non-current assets -3,369 -9,073 -12,442

Transfer of completed capital projects 282 282

Assets as at 31 December 2013 52,529 20,331 95,070 34,766 202,696

Accumulated depreciation as at 1 Jan 2013 -32,076 -20,126 -77,976 -18,714 -148,892

Current year depreciation -5,766 -71 -7,983 -10,347 -24,167

Net book value of non-current assets 
disposed of during the period

-282 -282

Accumulated depreciation of non-cu-
rrent assets disposed of during the period

3,369 8,647 12,016

Accumulated depreciation as at 31 Dec 
2013

-37,842 -20,197 -82,590 -20,696 -161,325

Net book value of tangible non-cu-
rrent assets as at 31 December 2013

14,687 134 12,480 14,070 41,371

Assets as at 1 January 2014 at cost 52,529 20,331 95,070 34,766 202,696

Additions to non-current assets 785 1,220 7,718 8,734 18,457

Disposals of non-current assets -397 -11,795 -12,192

Transfer of completed capital projects 89 89

Assets as at 31 December 2014 
At cost

53,314 21,551 102,391 31,794 209,050

Accumulated depreciation as at 1 Jan 
2014

-37,842 -20,197 -82,590 -20,696 -161,325

Current year depreciation -5,862 -72 -7,262 -9,581 -22,777

Net book value of non-current assets 
disposed of during the period

-89 -89

Accumulated depreciation of non-
-current assets disposed of during the 
period

398 11,707 12,105

Accumulated depreciation as at 31 Dec 
2014

-43,704 -20,269 -89,454 -18,659 -172,086

Net book value of tangible non-cu-
rrent assets as at 31 December 2014

9,610 1,282 12,937 13,135 36,964

Intangible non-current assets 
(in CZK ‘000) Software

Other intangi-
ble non-current 

assets 

Additions to 
intangible non-
-current assets

Intangible non-
-current assets

Assets as at 1 January 2013 at cost 259,665 1,430 261,095

Additions to intangible non-current assets 33,921 33,921

Disposals of intangible non-current assets -162

Transfer of completed capital projects 35,061 -35,061

Assets as at 31 December 2013 at cost 294,564 290 294,854

Accumulated amortisation as at 1 January 2013 -218,701 -218,701

Current year amortisation -35,917 -35,917

Net book value of intangible non-current assets 
disposed of during the period

162 162

Accumulated amortisation as at 31 December 
2013

-254,456 -254,456

Net book value of intangible non-current 
assets as at 31 December 2013

40,108 290 40,398

Assets as at 1 January 2014 at cost 294,564 290 294,854

Additions to intangible non-current assets 31,459 31,459

Disposals of intangible non-current assets 

Transfer of completed capital projects 31,750 -31,750

Assets as at 31 December 2014 at cost 326,314 326,314

Accumulated amortisation as at 1 January 2014 -254,456 -254,456

Current year amortisation -38,626 -38,626

Net book value of intangible non-current assets 
disposed of during the period

Accumulated amortisation as at 31 December 
2014

-293,082 -293,082

Net book value of intangible non-current 
assets as at 31 December 2014

33,232 33,232



272 273

IV.8 Other Assets IV.9 Liabilities to Banks and Other Financial 
Institutions

Accruals and other assets (in CZK ‘000) 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Accrued income

Prepaid expenses 19,799 16,802

Trade receivables 23,639 27,220

Total accruals and other assets 43,438 44,022

Liabilities to fi nancial institutions 
(in CZK ‘000) 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Bank accounts (overdraft) 120,497 175,860

Bank loans 10,927,044 10,923,696

Total liabilities to banks and other fi nancial institutions 11,047,541 11,099,556

Liabilities to banks 
(in CZK ‘000) Interest 

rate Security
31 December 

2014
audited

31 December 
2013

audited
Validity

Type of liability

Uncommitted line of credit 
(including overdraft) of CZK 1,000 
million

Fixed
Guarantee by BNP 

Paribas S.A.
640,217 606,960 indefi nite period

Uncommitted line of credit of CZK 
2,500 million

Fixed
Guarantee by BNP 

Paribas S.A.
1,967,284 1,383,996 indefi nite period

Uncommitted line of credit  of CZK 
3,000 million

Fixed
Guarantee by BNP 

Paribas S.A.
654,643 250,948 indefi nite period

Uncommitted line of credit 
(including overdraft) of CZK 3,000 
million (merged overdraft)

Fixed
Guarantee by BNP 

Paribas S.A.
1,934,608 2,693,378 indefi nite period

Uncommitted line of credit 
(including overdraft) of CZK 5,420 
million

Fixed
Guarantee by BNP 

Paribas S.A.
3,849,641 3,439,583 indefi nite period

Total bank loans  9,046,393 8,374,865  

Bank loans from related parties Fixed Unsecured 2,001,148 2,724,691 indefi nite period 

Total bank loans  11,047,541 11,099,556  

Temporary asset accounts contain prepaid expenses (prepaid overhead consumables, technical support 

for information systems, etc.); accrued income; payments expected but not yet received, attributable to the 

current period revenue (payable in the next period); and other assets, including, but not limited to, trade 

receivables. 
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IV.10 Debt Securities IV.13 Other Liabilities

IV.11 Provisions

IV.12 Tax Liabilities: Current and Deferred

Debt securities
(in CZK ‘000) Issue 

date
Maturity 

date
Total nominal 

value
Interest 

rate
31 December 

2014
31 December 

2013

Title

CETELEM ČR VAR/14 9. 5.2011 9. 5. 2014 1,000,000 6M Pribor + 0.83% 1,001,704

CETELEM ČR VAR/16 27. 6. 2013 27. 6. 2016 1,500,000 6M Pribor + 0.55% 1,498,429 1,497,194

CETELEM ČR VAR/19 8. 10. 2014 8. 10. 2019 1,500,000 6M Pribor + 0.46% 1,498,330

Debt securities 2,996,759 2,498,898

Provisions (in CZK ‘000) 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Provisions at the beginning of the period 30,638 67,103

Additions to provisions 1,628 264

Charges to provisions -4,200 -36,729

Total provisions 28,065 30,638

Accruals and other liabilities (in CZK ‘000) 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Accrued income 446 1,318

Prepaid expenses 145,288 80,349

Trade payables and other liabilities 224,135 230,222

Interest Rate SWAP 6,046 9,977

Accruals and other liabilities 375,915 321,866

Income tax payable (in CZK ‘000) 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Current period income tax 297,817 268,394

Income tax advance 276,953 267,479

Income tax assets

Income tax liability 20,864 915

In 2014 the accounting entity made accounting provisions for the Company’s contingent liabilities arising 

from remuneration of Management where the payment depends on the fulfi lment of conditions in the 

future periods and provisions to cover contingent liabilities arising from labour-law. During the year 2014 

provisions for the replacement of information technology was dissolved. 

Accrued revenue consists of payments received from clients in respect of a future period and amortised by 

the eff ective interest rate. 

Prepaid expenses consist of trade payables aff ected by the time lag occurring during the operations related 

to loan provision as at the book closing date (time lag between the date on which loans are granted and the 

date on which the relevant funds are debited to the Company’s bank accounts to be credited to authorised 

dealers’ and clients’ accounts). 

Trade payables and other payables comprise payables arising from labour-law relations, specifi cally unpaid 

wages, unpaid insurance and the down payment for employees’ income tax for December 2014, payable 

in January 2015, the tax liability in respect of indirect taxes payable in January 2015, and liabilities to 

suppliers, including estimated items. Estimated items comprise the costs related to the current period, 

the amount of which was not precisely known as at the date of the fi nancial statements. They include, in 

particular, unbilled supplies of services and goods (services purchased in connection with loan provision, 

supplies of utilities, postal charges, telecommunications services, database administration etc.).

Negative fair value of interest derivatives are liabilities from hedge derivatives in total amount of 3,000 

million CZK with the maturity between 12 and 60 months. 

As at 31 December 2014, the Company had no payables overdue for more than 180 days, nor did it have any 

other liabilities not stated in the Balance Sheet. 
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IV.13.1 Hedging Derivatives

IV.14 Equity

Hedging derivatives (in CZK ‘000)

31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Positive 
Fair Value

Negative 
Fair Value

Positive 
Fair Value

Negative 
Fair Value

Hedging of cash fl ow  6,046  9,977

Interest rate SWAP  6,046  9,977

Total hedging derivatives  6,046  9,977

Net interest income (in CZK ‘000)

31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Income Expense Net 
income Income Expense Net 

income

Client transactions

Credit and loans 2,415,529 2,415,529 2,391,065 2,391,065

Transactions with banks and other fi nancial 
institutions 

Deposits, interest and loans -228,600 -228,600 -296,504 -296,504

Net interest income/expense 2,415,529 -228,600 2,186,929 2,391,065 -296,504 2,094,561

Fees and commissions (in CZK ‘000)
31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Income Expense Net Income Expense Net

Client transaction charges 269,159 -6,646 262,513 282,490 -6,480 276,010

Payment transaction charges 7,795 7,795 7,771 7,771

Commissions from insurance 193,318 193,318 188,329 188,329

Other income 101,413 -34,485 66,928 112,925 -42,135 70,790

Net income on fees 571,685 -41,131 530,554 591,515 -48,615 542,900

Total nominal value of derivatives used for the purpose of interest risk hedge was CZK 3,000 million as at 

31 December 2014. Hedging derivatives were at the amount of CZK 2,250 million as at 31 December 2013.

Derivatives for hedging purposes are primarily concluded on the basis of contract with BNP Paribas and 

are measured at fair value based on the methods used by BNP Paribas.

Net interest income comprises all income and expenses related to fi nancial instruments and reported 

using the method of amortisation of costs (interest, fees, commissions, and transaction costs), the amount 

of which is measured using the eff ective interest rate method. 

Charge and commission income and expense comprise, in particular, the fees, commissions and contract 

penalties related to the Company’s core business – the provision of loans; they do not constitute the initial 

direct income and expense refl ected in the measurement of interest income using the eff ective interest rate. 

V Statement of Comprehensive Income: 
Explanatory Notes

V.1 Net Interest Income

V.2 Fees and Commissions

As at 31 December 2014, the Company’s equity 

was CZK 2,143,630,000; as at 31 December 2013 

amounted to CZK 2,250,448,000. Detailed infor-

mation about the Company’s equity is indicated in 

the Statement of Changes in Equity in chapter 3. 

The Company’s share capital is CZK 180,000,000 

and is fully paid up. The Company issued 180,000 

registered shares in uncertifi cated form, each 

with a nominal value of one thousand Czech 

crowns. Their transferability is restricted by the 

Company’s articles of association. There has been 

no change in share capital in recent years. 

Other comprehensive income, losses and Gains 

or losses from revaluation of assets and liabilities 

represent revaluation of shares in SID, a.s. and 

revaluation of hedging derivatives at fair value 

and deferred tax from revaluation.

On 11 April 2014, the sole shareholder, acting in 

the capacity of the General Meeting, decided to 

pay dividends from retained earnings of previous 

years at the amount of CZK 1,199,700,000.

Until the balance sheet preparation date the 

company has not decided on a dividend for the 

year 2014.
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V.3 Dividend Income

V.4 Other Income and Expense

Čisté výnosy z ostatních aktivit představují výnosy a náklady společnosti související s poskytováním 

ostatních služeb, které nejsou její hlavní činností. V roce 2014 činily čisté výnosy 7 872 tis. Kč, v roce 2013 

to bylo 11 790 tis. Kč. 

V.5 Payroll and Personnel Costs

V.6 General Operating Costs

V.7 Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment

V.8 Amortisation of Intangible Assets

Employee costs (in CZK ‘000) 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Wage costs -246,180 -229,544

Other personnel expenses -22,341 -21,355

Social and health insurance -76,385 -71,038

Social fund -22,629

Total payroll costs -344,906 -344,566

General operating costs (in CZK ‘000) 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Costs of payment instruments -10,378 -10,744

Rent -45,897 -40,023

Travel costs -7,861 -4,913

Information technology -123,627 -98,636

Low-value tangible and intangible assets -5,127 -4,594

Other services -180,083 -242,985

Other taxes and charges -19,625 35,910

Others 7,626 2,685

Net operating costs -384,972 -363,300

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment (in CZK ‘000) 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Buildings and equipment -5,862 -5,766

Computers -7,262 -7,983

Vehicles -9,581 -10,347

Other tangible assets -72 -71

Total depreciation of PP&E -22,777 -24,167

Amortisation of intangible assets (in CZK ‘000) 31. 12. 2014 31. 12. 2013

Software -38,626 -35,917

Total amortisation of intangible assets -38,626 -35,917

In 2014, the Company received dividends at the 

amount of CZK 4,147,000. In 2013, the Company 

received dividends at the amount of CZK 2,757,000.

Net income from other activities includes the 

Company’s income and expenses related to the 

provision of non-core services. In 2014, other in-

come amounted to CZK 7,872,000. In 2013, other 

income was at the amount of CZK 11,790,000. 
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V.9 Impairment of Receivables

Cost of risk for the current period (in CZK ‘000) 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Net additions to allowances 1,058,061 -400,413

Reversal of allowances -1,508,263 -117,947

 Receivables' write-off  not covered by allowances -85,328 -13,455

Total cost of risk -535,530 -531,815

Cost of risk for the current period 
by type of asset (in CZK ‘000) 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Loans to and receivables from clients -535,530 -531,815

Total allowance -535,530 -531,815

The entity wrote off  the loss-making receivables whose value decreased due to permanent impairment 

caused by fraud or death of the debtor, and the write-off  of which is, under the income tax act, tax allowa-

ble, and also receivables which the Company, given its long-term experience, does not expect to recover or 

the Company is not able to collect actively because the period expired. The amount written-off  was CZK 

1,582,506 thousand in 2014 and CZK 84,529 thousand in 2013. In 2014, the Company decided to one-time 

write-off  of receivables for which no payments has not been registered for more than 24 months in the 

amount of CZK 1,470 million.

In 2014, income from written-off  and transferred outstanding amounted to CZK 8,959 thousand, in the 

year 2013 CZK 15,035 thousand. These incomes are part of other income and expenses in chapter V.4.

V.10 Impairment of Assets

V.11 Provisions

Čisté výnosy z ostatních aktivit představují výnosy a náklady společnosti související s poskytováním 

ostatních služeb, které nejsou její hlavní činností. V roce 2014 činily čisté výnosy 7 872 tis. Kč, v roce 2013 

to bylo 11 790 tis. Kč. 

Asset impairment means a realised loss or gain 

from the disposal of the non-current assets used 

for operating activities and intended for repla-

cement. In 2014, this gain amounted to CZK 

4,550,000 and in 2013 it was CZK 3,386,000.

The accounting entity made in 2014 accounting 

provisions at the amount of CZK 456 thousand 

concerning contingent liabilities arising from 

remuneration of Management where the pay-

ment depends on the fulfi lment of conditions 

in the future periods. Further provisions were 

made to cover contingent liabilities arising from 

labour-law at the amount of CZK 1,172 thousand. 

In 2014 provisions for the replacement of infor-

mation technology was dissolved at the amount of 

CZK 4,200 thousand.

In 2013 accounting provisions were made at the 

amount of CZK 264 thousand concerning con-

tingent liabilities arising from remuneration of 

Management where the payment depends on the 

fulfi lment of conditions in the future periods. 

Provisions for contingent liabilities under a lease 

agreement, provisions for the replacement of 

information technology and provisions to cover 

contingent liabilities arising from labour-law 

were partially dissolved at the amount 

of CZK 36,729 thousand.



282 283

V.12 Income Tax

V.13 Earnings per Share

Income tax 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Profi t before tax 1,409,813 1,392,094

Income tax rate 19% 19%

Tax rate for the assessment of deferred tax 19% 19%

Non-tax deductible costs 273,834 192,949

Other non-tax deductible items -10,926 108,296

Income tax -319,893 -301,682

of which:

Current period income tax (income tax provision) -297,817 -268,394

Deferred tax -22,076 -33,288

Impact occurring after the closing of the period 

Net earnings per share (in CZK ‘000) 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Net earnings per share for the current period 1,089,920 1,090,412

Number of shares 180,000 180,000

Net earnings per share 6.07 6.06

As at 31 December 2014, the eff ective tax rate was 21.12 %. In 2013, the amount was 19.27 %. The diff erence 

between the eff ective tax rate and tax rate is due to signifi cant reduction of allowances for doubtful debts 

on loans: owing to the limit on tax deductible allowances, they were not accepted as tax-deductible costs.

VI Risk Management and Financial Instruments

VI.1 Overall Presentation of Risks

The Company’s strategy is to apply a prudent 

and balance approach in all areas of taken risks – 

credit risk, market risk, particularly in the area of 

liquidity risk, interest rate risk, operational risk 

and regulatory risk. The Company’s core busi-

ness is the provision of consumer loans to private 

individuals and the provision of services related 

thereto. The Company is mainly exposed to risks 

concerning to this segment. The objective of risk 

management is to maintain stable long-term 

profi tability of the Company through various risk 

management tools, especially statistical models 

and processes, skilled employees and the applica-

tion of the rules of BNP Paribas Group.

The Company has been and still can be exposed 

particularly to the external environment infl u-

ence due to a signifi cant deterioration in market, 

economic and regulatory conditions, in particular 

the deterioration in the credit or liquidity mar-

ket, increasing protection of consumer or from 

macroeconomic situation (recession, decline in 

household consumption, unemployment, etc.).

Market failure and a sharp economic decrease, 

which may occur rapidly and therefore they can-

not be fully predicted, could impact the business 

environment for the fi nancial institutions for a 

short or long period of time. They could have had 

a signifi cant adverse impact on the fi nancial si-

tuation of the Company, its business, economical 

result or the cost of risk.

The following major risks have been identifi ed in 

the context of these activities: 

Credit risk 

– in terms of receivables from clients or business 

partners represents an existing or threatening 

risk of loss in economic value due to the failure of 

clients to meet their obligations, it is associated 

with changing creditworthiness of a debtor.

Interest rate risk (market risk) 

– the Company provides loans to private indivi-

duals and/or business owners under terms and 

conditions that are fi xed contractually when 

the loan is being granted. Interest rate risk is a 

change in market interest rates during the con-

tractual relationship. To ensure the stability 

of net interest income, the tariff  rate must be 

ensured against any fl uctuations in the economic 

environment, especially against changes in the 

market rates (interest rate risk).

Liquidity risk 

– represents potential loss due to lack of suffi  ci-

ent fi nancial means to cover liabilities from the 

business. The Company must ensure that mainly 

suffi  cient funds to cover the loans provided to its 

clients are available to it throughout its life (liqui-

dity risk).

Operational risk 

– risk of loss due to shortcomings or failures of 

internal processes, the human factor, or the system, 
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or risk of loss due to external factors including risk 

of loss due to violation or non-observing of legal 

regulation. Operational risk includes risks of human 

resources, compliance risks, legal risks, tax risks, 

informational technology risks, risk of failure and 

reputational risk (public reputation of the Company).

Regulatory risk 

– risk of loss due to legal regulation changes 

which infl uence signifi cantly entrepreneurship 

of the Company.

VI.2 Credit Risk

VI.2.1 Credit Risk Management

Credit risk represents an existing or potential risk 

of loss of economic value of receivables on loans 

due to clients’ default. It is associated with dete-

rioration in the borrowers’ credit quality, which 

may lead to losses for the Company. The estimated 

probability of loss and expected eff ectiveness of 

recovery actions in the case of default are the key 

parameters of credit quality measurement. The 

loan portfolio does not contain any signifi cant 

individual items: it consists of a large number of 

loans with relatively small amounts to be repaid. 

The risk of other counterparties, where exists or 

may arise fi nancial obligatory to the Company, is 

also monitored within credit risk management.

Risk of clients’ insolvency

The risk of insolvency proceedings comprises 

the risk of bankruptcy being declared in respect 

of the client’s assets, resulting in an initiation of 

mechanisms foreseen by law for the discharge 

of debts. Therefore, the Company is exposed to a 

risk of fi nancial losses due to a lower recoverabili-

ty, limited amount of recoverable debt and due to 

a longer period of receivables recovery. The risk 

of clients’ insolvency is regularly monitored wi-

thin the uniform system for evaluating credit risk.

Risk of early repayment

The risk of early repayment is the risk that cli-

ents could pay their liabilities earlier and higher 

amount than expected, resulting in a fi nancial loss 

for the Company. The risk of early repayment of 

granted loans is regularly observed and monitored. 

In the current period was not achieved signifi cant 

deviation from the anticipated development.

Impact of the macroeconomic development 
on the credit risk management

The credit risk development can be adversely 

aff ected by the macroeconomic development. 

The credit risk in the area of providing consumer 

loans is particularly sensitive to rising unemploy-

ment, prises and the gradually increasing indeb-

tedness of households even leading to excessive 

indebtedness and growing number of personal 

bankruptcies. The Company´s used criteria for 

an approval of loans are focused to minimize the 

losses caused by the aforementioned negative 

eff ects. A part of risk management standard pro-

cedures is an assistance service for clients having 

problems with the repayment of their loans.

In order to manage the credit risk, the Company 

uses the uniform methodology defi ned by the 

central risk management of the parent compa-

ny and is adjusted in procedures of the Group 

applied by the BNP Paribas Personal Finance. 

The methods and tools for risk management 

depend on the type of loans. Selection and ongo-

ing monitoring of distribution channel is critical 

for consumer loans. Loans are provided to clients 

in accordance with the segmentation by using 

scoring models and expert systems. Credit risk of 

business partners is restricted by monitoring of 

maximum limits of risk set for each vendor. 

External databases are used for appraisal of 

creditworthiness of clients and business partners. 

Used databases are SOLUS and CNCB – Czech 

Non-Banking Credit Bureau and both are opera-

ted by interest associations of legal entities.

The highest internal body for credit risk man-

agement in particular areas, for assessing and 

approving limits on credit risk for all credit 

transactions and products is a Risk Committee. 

The Risk Committee assesses and approves the 

principles of business policy with respect to 

credit risk management; assesses and approves 

non-standard loan transactions exceeding the 

limits defi ned for system assessment and appro-

val of credit transactions; defi nes and approves 

the system of measurement and management of 

credit risk, including the level structure of credit 

portfolio of the Company to achieve specifi ed 

levels of fi nancial goals; compares and assesses 

actual development of credit risk with defi ned 

goals; monitors and manages changes in setting 

rules for loan approval and approves corrective 

measures in case of exceeding set limits. During 

risk management of other counterparties, whe-

re exists or may arise fi nancial obligatory to the 

Company, monitors mainly compliance with the 

exposure to individual counterparties. The Risk 

Committee has one subcommittee which main 

purpose is consulting, evaluating and taking ac-

tion in the area connected with providing funding 

to cooperating business partners.

The Risk Direction is a separate organisational 

unit, independent of the Company’s business and 

fi nancial activities and is responsible for oversee-

ing the Company’s credit risk, including: 

→  determination of the conditions for lending 

and conditions of co-operation with trading 

partners;

→  provision of system support for loan transac-

tions;

→  credit risk monitoring, measuring and repor-

ting; 

→  realizing remedial measures when limits are 

exceeded or adverse trends emerge; 

→  management of data infrastructure and the 

analytical systems that support risk manage-

ment; 

→  defi nition of procedures for the prevention of 

fraudulent operations;

→  contributing to the formulation of the Compa-

ny’s internal rules and work procedures;

→  overseeing the credit risk scoring models.
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VI.2.2 Overdue Receivables

Overdue receivables and 
liabilities reduced by 
individual allowances, 
as at 31 December 2014
(in CZK ‘000)

Overdue receivables not covered 
by individual allowances 

Doubtful 
receiva-
bles not 
covered 
by indi-

vidual 
allowan-

ces

Total 
loans and 

other 
overdue 

liabilities

Secu-
rity for 

overdue 
receiva-
bles not 
covered 
by indi-

vidual 
allowan-

ces

Secu-
rity for 

doubtful 
receiva-
bles co-

vered by 
individual 

allowan-
ces

Total
Up 

to 90 
days

Be-
tween 

90 
and 
180 

days

Be-
tween 

180 
days 

and 1 
year

More 
than 1 

year

Financial assets measured to 
fair value

         

Tradable fi nancial assets (except 
for variable-income securities)

         

Loans to and receivables from 
fi nancial institutions

         

Loans to and receivables from 
clients

1,597,684 1,597,684 812,359 2,410,043   

Overdue receivables reduced by 
individual allowances 

1,597,684 1,597,684 812,359 2,410,043   

Off -balance sheet liabilities – 
loan commitments 

  

Guarantees granted   

Off -balance sheet liabilities 
reduced by allowances

  

Total 1,597,684 1,597,684 812,359 2,410,043   

Overdue receivables and 
liabilities reduced by 
individual allowances, 
as at 31 December 2013
(in CZK ‘000)

Overdue receivables not covered 
by individual allowances

Doubtful 
receiva-
bles not 
covered 
by indi-

vidual 
allowan-

ces

Total lo-
ans and 

other 
overdue 

liabilities

Secu-
rity for 

overdue 
receiva-
bles not 

cove-
red by 

individual 
allowan-

ces

Secu-
rity for 

doubtful 
receiva-
bles co-

vered by 
individual 

allowan-
ces

Total
Up 

to 90 
days

Be-
tween 

90 
and 
180 

days

Be-
tween 

180 
days 

and 1 
year

More 
than 1 

year

Financial assets measured to 
fair value

         

Tradable fi nancial assets (except 
for variable-income securities)

         

Loans to and receivables from 
fi nancial institutions

         

Loans to and receivables from 
clients

1,513,331 1,513,331 952,029 2,465,360   

Overdue receivables reduced by 
individual allowances 

1,513,331 1,513,331 952,029 2,465,360   

Off -balance sheet liabilities – 
loan commitments 

  

Guarantees granted   

Off -balance sheet liabilities 
reduced by allowances

  

Total 1,513,331 1,513,331 952,029 2,465,360   

The table below shows the net book values of outstanding receivables by the length of time past the due 

date, not reduced by created portfolio allowances (allowances on a portfolio basis); it also shows the values 

of doubtful debts reduced by individual allowances (with allowances applied on an individual basis), and 

the security, if any, for these assets. 
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VI.3 Market Risk (Risk of Loss from Assets 
and Liabilities Management)

VI.3.1 Market Risk Management

VI.3.2 Interest Rate Risk

VI.3.3 Currency Risk

All fi nancial instruments and positions of the 

Company are exposed to market risk, i.e. the risk 

that a future change in the market conditions 

may impair the value of or may disadvantage a 

certain instrument.

The Company uses methods and procedures for 

credit risk and currency risk management applied 

by the BNP Paribas Group. The purpose is to 

manage the risk of the fl uctuations in net interest 

income which are caused by changes in interest 

rates, foreign exchange rates, and the maturities 

of fi nancial instruments, through the asset/liabi-

lity gap analysis and the approved limits in each 

of the groups. 

The Committee for assets and liabilities man-

agement is the supreme authority for the man-

agement of assets and liabilities; discusses the 

analysis of the structure of assets and resources 

to cover them. The Committee mainly monitors 

and manages interest rate risk and liquidity risk; 

assesses actual amount of available resources 

and proposes requirements of refi nancing for the 

specifi ed following period; interprets risk and 

in case of need takes decision; decides about the 

securing from; supervises compliance of limits 

set for a diff erent types of refi nancing and their 

correspondence with the Group’s policy; reviews 

the availability of resources, their amount in 

relation to business plans and plans for future 

development of the Company; seeks and evalua-

tes alternative refi nancing options and monitors 

compliance with the capital adequacy required 

by law and discusses its amount with competent 

units of the Group.

Interest rate risk is the risk of a change in the 

value of a fi nancial instrument as a result of a 

change in the market interest rates. The period of 

time for which the fi nancial instrument’s inte-

rest rate is fi xed indicates the extent to which the 

instrument is exposed to the interest rate risk 

resulting from diff erent maturities. Interest rate 

risk is also caused by the diff erent maturities of 

underlying fl oating-rate fi nancial instruments. 

The Company provides, for the most part, fi xed-

-rate loans with fi xed maturity, which bear no 

interest rate risk attributable a variable nature of 

their pricing conditions. Interest rate risk is also 

minimised by the selection of a refi nancing form 

corresponding to the fi nancial asset’s profi le at 

the time of its inception, refi nancing sources with 

the fl oating interest rate are provided in the form 

of hedging derivatives. 

Currency risk emerges when the economic value 

of a foreign-currency fi nancial instrument is 

aff ected by changes in foreign exchange rates. To 

eliminate this risk, such fi nancial asset must be 

matched by a liability denominated in the same 

currency in which the asset was provided. The 

currency risk management is governed by the 

principle that customer products are funded by 

refi nancing sources in the same currency. The 

Company does not record foreign-currency assets 

and liabilities in amounts at which a change 

caused by exchange rate fl uctuations could cause 

material loss. The functional currency of the 

Company is the Czech crown and its activities are 

carried out mainly in Czech crowns.
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VI.3.4 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will 

be unable to obtain suffi  cient readily available 

funds to meet its liabilities resulting from fi nan-

cial contracts. Assignable fi nancial instruments 

(assets/liabilities) with a variable interest rate, 

identical underlying rate, but diff erent maturity, 

cause the liquidity risk. The liquidity risk results 

from various maturities of assets and liabilities, 

and it comprises the risk that the Issuer would 

not be able to fi nance its assets as of the relevant 

maturity date and in the corresponding rate, and 

the risk that the Issuer would not be able to fulfi l 

its liabilities as they become due. 

The Company’s approach to liquidity manage-

ment is based on providing for suffi  cient liquidity 

to pay all of its liabilities as they fall due under 

both ordinary and extraordinary circumstances 

without incurring any material losses. The Com-

pany monitors on a regular basis the maturities of 

the various fi nancial assets and liabilities and the 

information supporting the planned cash fl ows. 

The daily liquidity position is recorded and is re-

gularly tested against various scenarios refl ecting 

both normal and adverse market conditions. 

The Company creates a liquidity reserve in the 

form of short-term deposit in case of the liquidity 

crisis.

The Company uses diff erent refi nancing me-

thods. For the most part, fi nancing is provided for 

through bank loans from third parties, bank loans 

within the Group, debt securities, and the Com-

pany’s own funding. Support by the BNP Paribas 

Group, also in the form of hedging liabilities of 

the Company, is one of the pillars of the Compa-

ny’s liquidity management; it improves fi nancing 

fl exibility and reduces the risks inherent in the 

dependence on other sources and the risk of po-

tential adverse impacts. 

Financial assets and liabilities 
by maturity as at 31 December 
2014 (in CZK ‘000)

Less 
than 1 
month

1 to 3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year

1 to 5 
years

More 
than 

5 years
Total

Loans to and other receivables from 
clients 

1,030,894 1,726,561 6,538,841 5,574,242 97,898 14,968,436

Financial assets by maturity 1,030,894 1,726,561 6,538,841 5,574,242 97,898 14,968,436

Liabilities to fi nancial institutions 1,100,000 1,430,000 4,360,000 1,830,000 150,000 8,870,000

Bonds 2,993,538 2,993,538

Financial liabilities by maturity 1,100,000 1,430,000 4,360,000 4,823,538 150,000 11,863,538

Net position -69,106 296,561 2,178,841 750,704 -52,102 3,104,898

Financial assets and liabilities 
by maturity as at 31 December 
2013 (in CZK ‘000)

Less 
than 1 
month

1 to 3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year

1 to 5 
years

More 
than 

5 years
Total

Loans to and other receivables from 
clients 

941,044 1,623,457 6,001,840 5,569,228 357,109 14,492,678

Financial assets by maturity 941,044 1,623,457 6,001,840 5,569,228 357,109 14,492,678

Liabilities to fi nancial institutions 1,020,000 1,180,000 3,130,000 2,810,000 8,140,000

Bonds 999,718 1,496,979 2,496,697

Financial liabilities by maturity 1,020,000 1,180,000 4,129,718 4,306,979 10,636,697

Net position -78,956 443,457 1,872,122 1,262,249 357,109 3,855,981
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VI.4 Operational Risk

VI.4.1 Operational Risk Management

Operational risk is the risk resulting from inade-

quacy or failures of internal processes, people and 

systems or from external events, which had, could 

have or could have had the consequence of the lost 

or opportunity cost. 

Operational risk comprises the human resource 

risks, the compliance risk, legal risks, tax risks, in-

formation system risks, outage risks, risks related 

to fi nancial information disclosure, and the repu-

tation risk (public reputation of the Company).

The main aim of operational risk management is 

the preparedness for critical situations and mini-

misation of potential losses of the Company by in-

creasing the effi  ciency of management and control 

system, identifi cation of strengths and weaknesses 

of the control mechanisms and creating the early 

warning system.

The operational risk management in the Company 

has to take into account:

→  own risk profi le – own general exposure to the 

potential operational risk events;

→  risk tolerance – the degree of exposure to the 

operational risk, which the company 

is able to accept.

The Company set up these objectives and princi-

ples of operational risk management:

→  mobility of all employees to implement measu-

res to control risk.

→  reduce the likelihood of operational risk inci-

dents that could threaten:

 →  the good name of the company;

 →  the confi dence which have clients, 

shareholders, investors, employees and 

supervising authorities towards the 

Company;

 →  the quality of services and products;

 →  the profi tability of its business;

 →  the effi  ciency of processes;

→  maintaining eff ective management and control 

system with appropriate level of formalisation, 

which enables the proper risk control;

→  achieving an appropriate balance between risks 

taken and the cost of operational risk manage-

ment system.

The Company has put in place operational risk ma-

nagement standards and processes for compliance 

with these principles and objectives including: 

→  monitoring of compliance with statutory regu-

lations and other legal requirements;

→  defi nition and separation of each individual’s 

competences;

→  observance of principles of independent multi-

ple authorisations of transactions and their ex 

post checking and monitoring;

→  documentation of controls and procedures, 

including regular evaluation and identifi cation 

of operational risks;

→  regular reporting of operating incidents, disclosu-

re of losses and proposals for remedial measures;

→  measures to mitigate the impacts of risks, inclu-

ding insurance if considered to be eff ective;

→  preparation of contingency plans to manage 

emergency situations;

→  system of training and professional development. 

→  standards of ethics, and business codes 

of practice.

The Committee for operational risk and security is 

the supreme authority for operational risk manage-

ment. The Committee discusses and evaluates areas 

of activities related to operational risk and secu-

rity of the Company (physical and informational) 

including the state of emergency planning in the 

Company. The Committee for operational risk and 

security discuss in particular the status of historical 

and potential incidents, their coverage of internal 

controls; discusses the losses and potential losses 

from incidents; controls the accuracy of approach 

to calculate these losses and examines the adequacy 

of capital to cover these risks and examines the map 

of company’s risks from the point of timeliness and 

completeness in relation to operational risks.

In 2014, the risks of the Financial Department, Risk 

Department and IT Department were mapped on 

the basis of the annual plan. Within advance app-

roach one new scenario of potential incidents was 

created and 16 scenarios were updated.

VI.4.2 Regulatory Risk

The business environment is being increasingly 

aff ected by changes in legislation and the inter-

pretations thereof by the governmental autho-

rities competent to do so. Fully in line with the 

principles applied within the EU, the growing 

interest in boosting consumer protection, in 

particular, has a bearing on the Company. Higher 

quality information provided to consumers, and 

hence their improved competence, also plays a 

major role. Organisations for consumer right pro-

tection are also important agents of change. 

The Company is obliged to satisfy a number of 

regulatory requirements, in particular those set 

out in the Civil Code, as a piece of general legisla-

tion, and also those set out in special legislation 

on consumer credit, insurance mediation and 

personal data protection, and in laws and regula-

tions on payment services, capital markets, taxes, 

bookkeeping and reporting. Changes in the above 

legislation can have a major impact on the market 

environment in which the Company operates. 

However, these changes are not fully predictable. 
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Any change in legislation or governmental autho-

rities’ decision-making practice, which results in 

a material change of the conditions for lending, a 

requirement to obtain a permit/licence to opera-

te a business, any intervention with the position 

of lenders or with their capital, or the imposition 

of new obligations and restrictions – all of this 

can have unfavourable impacts on the company’s 

business, results, fi nancial standing, liquidity and 

business prospects. 

In order to eliminate the regulatory risk, the 

Company has in place a mechanism for moni-

toring legislative amendments and evaluating 

their impacts. Either on its own or as a member of 

professional organisations, the Company monitors 

and evaluates legislative plans and also specifi c 

proposals put forth by the stakeholders in the law-

-making process in the Czech Republic and the EU. 

This is the case in, for example, the areas of perso-

nal data, capital requirements for lending instituti-

ons, taxes, intermediation of fi nancial products, li-

censing of non-bank providers of consumer credit 

etc. Since the legal framework within which the 

Company carries on its business is continuously 

evolving, its future shape cannot be fully predicted, 

and the impacts on the Company’s activity there-

fore cannot be evaluated to the full extent. 

With regard to its core business, the Company is 

primarily obliged to satisfy the requirements for 

consumer protection in the provision of fi nancial 

services. The key laws in this respect include Act 

No 145/2010 on consumer credit, as amended, 

and Act No 89/2012, the Civil Code. 

Where the Company’s business practices fail to 

meet the requirements of the law on consumer 

credit, which are mainly placed on the particulars to 

be contained in loan agreements; advertising, and 

on performing the information obligations prior 

to and during the course of the credit relationship, 

an up to CZK 20 million administrative fi ne can be 

levied on the Company. As a result of contravening 

the law, the Company can also face fi nancial losses 

from credit transactions because of the risk that the 

contractual rate of interest is reduced retroactive-

ly, or it may be held liable for the Company’s trade 

partners (credit intermediaries) failing to perform 

their own information obligations to clients. 

Regulatory changes in the fi eld of providing and 

arranging for the retail credit products and servi-

ces prepared by the Ministry of Finance will have 

an undoubted impact on the Company's business. 

These changes should lead to the unifi cation of 

the current legislation of consumer credits with 

upcoming new regulations on loans for housing 

and especially tighten conditions for non-banking 

institutions providing consumer credit. Important 

elements are e.g. the unifi cation of supervision 

of entities engaged in these activities, or other 

specifi cations of so-called unfair trade practices in 

providing and arranging for the consumer credit.

Further to recodifi cation of private law valid from 

1 January 2014, the Company introduced new 

client documentation, contracts with trade part-

ners, corporate documents and internal proce-

sses adjusted to the new legislation. In view of the 

so far ambiguous interpretation of provisions of 

the above codes which are relevant for the Com-

pany, the Company cannot however rule out the 

risk of errors in its internal processes, contracts 

with clients or informative documents, such as 

can be capable of causing the duty to pay adminis-

trative fi nes or the obligation to face claims under 

private law, primarily consumers’ claims. 

The emphasis on a high degree of customer satis-

faction is refl ected in the tighter legislative requi-

rements placed on the content and intelligibility of 

client documentation. The Company is therefore 

continuously modifying its lending conditions and 

process with a view to maximising protection for 

consumers’ vested interests and minimising the risk 

of penalisation for non-compliance with the respecti-

ve legislation and with the evolving interpretation 

thereof by the State’s supervisory and surveillance 

authorities and courts’ unifying opinions. A develop-

ment of jurisprudence with the impact of society can 

be expected in the application of the new Civil Code. 

The preparations of amendments to the Civil Code 

started. The amendment should in particular clari-

fy certain provisions with the possibility of double 

interpretation, the problematic practices revealed 

almost immediately after the eff ective date of the Act.

The Company is licensed as a payment institution 

under Act No 284/2009 on payments, as amended. 

Its position as an entity so regulated entails the 

obligation to continuously meet the criteria for 

the design and working of the internal manage-

ment and control system and the requirements 

placed on process management and risk manage-

ment, those for the existence of suitable technical, 

personnel and organisational prerequisites for the 

prudent provision of payment services, security of 

payments and also capital requirements.

Practices contrary to the terms on which the pa-

yment institution licence was awarded can result 

in a prohibition of payment service provision 

through electronic payment instruments (credit 

cards) issued by the Company, and, in turn, con-

traction of the future volume of funds provided in 

the segment of revolving loans.

A potential future loss of the licence for business 

under the law on payments may have a signifi cant 

unfavourable impact on the company’s business, 

fi nancial standing, business results, liquidity and 

business prospects. 

In connection with the legislation governing the 

environment in which the Company operates, the 

potential risk of breaching the rules for the pro-

tection of personal data of the Company’s clients 

should be noted. The Company is subject to the 

obligations and restrictions laid down in Act No 

101/2000 on personal data protection, as amended. 

A breach by the Company of statutory obligations 

in personal data protection could attract a penal-

ty of up to CZK 10 million. As at the date of the 

fi nancial statements, the Company is not aware 

of any breach of personal data protection rules 

such as could result in a penalty imposed by the 

Offi  ce for Personal Data Protection; however, the 

Company is unable to rule out this possibility. 

Legislation in the fi eld of personal data will be 

tightened after the adoption of the Acts of EP and 

the Council on the protection of personal data, 

which changes the conditions for determining 

which types of data fall into categories of personal 

data and duties of controllers and processors.

The Company may be exposed to a risk related to 

the administrative proceedings pending between 

the Offi  ce for Personal Data Protection and 

SOLUS, a special-interest association of juristic 

persons, Reg. No. 69346925, of which the Compa-

ny is a member and whose rules for personal data 

processing in the client registers operated by it 

the Company applies in its credit rating processes. 

These administrative proceedings concern the legal 

opinion expressed by the Offi  ce for Personal Data 

Protection on personal data processing in credit 

bureaus and the data subjects’ right to revoke at any 

time their consent to data processing, even if they 

have overdue debts. Should a court uphold the abo-

ve regulatory authority’s legal opinion, the informa-

tion value of the credit bureaus used in credit risk 

management could be impaired and the potential 

losses from riskily granted credit may increase. 

In credit risk management, the Company will 

also have to cope, on an ongoing basis, with the 
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impacts of the already enacted legislative changes 

related chiefl y to the implementation of e-go-

vernment, as a result of which creditors can be 

expected to have fewer opportunities to obtain 

and check client identifi cation data and other 

data important for credit risk management from 

the identifi cation documents produced by clients. 

Despite the Company’s eff ort to minimise the 

costs incurred in litigation to collect debts – from 

the perspective of the subject matter of litigation, 

where the overwhelming majority of the legal dis-

putes concerns clients defaulting on their obliga-

tions under loan agreements – the Company was 

compelled to restrict using alternative dispute 

settlement through arbitration due to the tighter 

legislative framework for resorting to arbitration 

in consumer disputes and in view of the current 

developments in courts’ case law. 

The transition to the standard, i.e. judicial resoluti-

on of disputes over defaulted loans, results in higher 

costs incurred in recoveries, and both in terms of 

the direct costs related to court proceedings and in 

terms of the overhead costs related to operating the 

Company’s internal process of litigation. 

The process of recovery will be aff ected in the 

future by establishing a system for the so-called 

extrajudicial dispute resolution.

The adoption of the draft law establishing the 

principle of territorial jurisdiction of executors 

can have the negative impact on recoveries. The 

impossibility of choice of the executor, for which 

it would be possible to expect a desired level of 

effi  ciency in view of the fact to verify the eff ective 

management system execution cases, will proba-

bly mean lower volume of exacted performance 

and the extension of the period of  recoveries.

The present amendment to the act on insurance 

intermediaries will mean, if adopted as proposed, 

the stricter conditions for negotiation of ins-

urance products, in particular the need to ensure 

adequate expertise of cooperating persons and 

the related possible increase of costs of arranging 

professional training and testing.

The Company proceeds prudently and applies 

due care in fi nancial service provision while 

taking into account consumers’ vested interests, 

but going forward, it cannot rule out a non-com-

pliance risk related to the contemplated amen-

dment to the law on criminal liability of juristic 

persons which should signifi cantly expand the 

range of crimes credited to the legal entity. 

The Company operates in fi nancial service provi-

sion to consumers. It is therefore aff ected by the 

legislative plans, which aims to impose caps on 

interest rates or a cap on APR, which will have to 

be refl ected in the product pricing structure. 

As at the date of the fi nancial statements, the Compa-

ny is not involved in any exceptional case or dispute 

such as would have a material impact on its fi nancial 

standing, activity, results, or assets and liabilities. The 

Company’s dispute agenda focuses on recovering 

overdue receivables from clients or trade partners. 

The Company is not aware of any other signifi -

cant risks arising from potential administrative 

proceedings conducted by inspection and surve-

illance authorities. 

At the end of 2014 a project of merger with the 

parent bank was approved. The merger should be in 

the middle of 2015. The providing of fi nancial servi-

ces in the Czech Republic will continue to be ensu-

red by the branch of the parent bank. At present, the 

changes arising after the impact study are imple-

mented into internal processes of the Company, the 

clients´ contractual documentation is adjusted, etc., 

so that fi nancial services could be provided in the 

same range at the eff ective date of the merger.

VII Other Information

VII.1 Off -Balance Sheet Receivables and Payables

VII.2 Contingent Assets and Liabilities

As at 31 December 2014, the potential liabilities ari-

sing from approved lines of credit and loan commit-

ments to clients amounted to CZK 13,433,005,000 

and as at 31 December 2013 they amounted to CZK 

11,751,693,000. Liabilities arising from approved li-

nes of credit do not necessarily imply future disbur-

sements, because a part of the future liabilities will 

be discharged without the funds being drawn in full.

The Company is not aware of any material contin-

gent liabilities and does not record any contingent 

assets. As of the date of fi nancial statements, the 

Company does not register any exceptional case 

of dispute. The Company is not aware of any risks 

resulting from potential administrative procee-

dings conducted by the inspectional or supervisory 

bodies.
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VII.3.2 Amounts Receivable 
from and Payable to Related Parties

VII.3.3 Transactions with Members 
of the Company’s Management

Relationships to related parties
Balance Sheet items (in CZK ‘000) 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Assets   

Term-accounts 950,000 900,000

Other assets 6,578 9,026

Total assets 956,578 909,026

Liabilities

Amounts payable on loans 2,001,148 2,724,691

Other liabilities 7,288 9,195

Liabilities IRS 6,046 9,977

Total liabilities 2,014,482 2,783,526

(in CZK ‘000)

Receivables in respect of 
the loans and credit lines 

provided

Personnel expenses 
(wages, statutory pay-

ments)
Other benefi ts

Balance as at
31 Decem-

ber 2013

Balance as at 
31 Decem-

ber 2014
2013 2014 2013 2014

Governing body & Supervisory Board 866 299 92 1,788

Managerial staff 2,066 469 45,095 30,298 1,453 1,346

Total 2,932 768 45,095 30,298 1,546 3,134

Other benefi ts include income quantifi ed under Act No 586/1992 for the purpose of determining income 

tax. They include, in particular, the free-of-charge availability of a car for both business and private use 

and contributions to private pension schemes and with-profi ts life assurance policies. 

The Company’s shareholders, directors, Supervisory Board members and managers were not granted any loans, 

credit or security by the Company under conditions other than at arm’s length in the relevant accounting period 

or in any previous periods. The interest rates and the terms and conditions of the loans provided to such persons 

corresponded to the terms and conditions off ered by fi nancial institutions at similar times and locations. 

The information about the members of the managerial staff  also includes considerations and benefi ts 

provided to those who at the same time were members of the governing body. 

VII.3 Related Parties

VII.3.1 Income and Costs

Relationships to related parties 
Income Statement items (in CZK ‘000) 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Interest expenses -79,662 -97,724

Interest revenues 190 261

Commissions and fees 193,118 188,329

Services provided by the Company 7,407 2,383

Services provided to the Company -26,995 -27,173

Total 94,058 66,076

VII.4 Cost of Audit Fees

VII.5 Subsequent Events

Information about the total cost of fees paid to 

auditor’s company of the fi nancial year ended 31 

December 2014 is listed in the notes of consolida-

ted fi nancial statements of the parent company.

No other events that could signifi cantly aff ect the 

Company’s results and development were recorded 

between the end of the reporting period, 31 December 

2014, and the date of the fi nancial statements, except 

for what is generally known about the development of 

the Czech market and economy and the published joint 

project of a cross-border merger between CETELEM 

ČR, a.s. and BNP Paribas Personal Finance SA.
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